
Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes 
 

Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Dyddiad: 

Dydd Mercher, 2 Gorffennaf 2014  

 

Amser: 

09.15 

 

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth, cysylltwch a:  

Claire Morris 

Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8582148 

Pwyllgor.Menter@cymru.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

Cyfarfod preifat cyn y prif gyfarfod (9:15)  

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon (9:30)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

2 Ymchwiliad i Dwristiaeth (Sesiwn 6) (9:30-10:30) (Tudalennau 1 - 33)  

John Griffiths AC, y Gweinidog Diwylliant a Chwaraeon 

Llyr Jones, Swyddog Cyswllt Parcau Cenedlaethol, Llywodraeth Cymru 

Marilyn Lewis, Cyfarwyddwr, Cadw 

Linda Tomos, Cyfarwyddwr, CyMAL 

  

Dogfennau atodol: 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p.1) - Llywodraeth Cymru 

3 Ymchwiliad i Dwristiaeth (Sesiwn 7) (10:40-11:10) (Tudalennau 34 - 73)  

David Alston, Cyfarwyddwr y Celfyddydau, Cyngor Celfyddydau Cymru 

Sian Tomos, Cyfarwyddwr Menter ac Adfywio, Cyngor Celfyddydau Cymru  

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



Dogfennau atodol: 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 2) - Cyngor Celfyddydau Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

4 Ymchwiliad i Dwristiaeth (Sesiwn 8) (11:15-11:45) (Tudalennau 74 - 78)  

Rebecca Brough, Y Cerddwyr a Chyswllt Amgylchedd Cymru 

James Byrne, Ymddiriedolaethau Natur Cymru a Chyswllt Amgylchedd Cymru 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 3) - Cyswllt Amgylchedd Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

5 Papurau i'w nodi  (Tudalennau 79 - 88) 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 4) - Llythyr gan y Cadeirydd at Weinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth 

a Thrafnidiaeth 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 5) - Ymateb gan Weinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a 

Thrafnidiaeth 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 6) - Tystiolaeth Ychwanegol (1) gan VisitBritain 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 7) - Tystiolaeth Ychwanegol (2) gan VisitBritain 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 8) - Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Cyllid at Gadeiryddion (Cymraeg) 

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y cyhoedd 

o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer y busnes a ganlyn    

Eitem 7 

7 Ystyried Adroddiad Drafft (11:45-12:15) (Tudalennau 89 - 128)  

Adroddiad drafft ar gyfer yr ymchwiliad i agwedd Llywodraeth Cymru tuag at hybu 

masnach a mewnfuddsoddi. 

Dogfennau atodol: 

EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 9) - Adroddiad Drafft f 7 (Saesneg yn unig) 



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



1 

 

Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes – Ymchwiliad i Dwristiaeth yng Nghymru 
 
2 Gorffennaf 2014 
 
Cyflwyniad 
 
 
1. Gweinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth sy‟n gyfrifol am hybu 

twristiaeth yng Nghymru, a hi hefyd sy‟n gyfrifol am Croeso Cymru. Mae‟r portffolio 
Chwaraeon a Diwylliant hefyd yn gwneud cyfraniad pwysig drwy‟r asedau a‟r 
gwasanaethau diwylliannol, hanesyddol, naturiol a chwaraeon y mae‟n gyfrifol 
amdanynt. Mae perthynas waith gadarn â Croeso Cymru wrth wraidd y cyfan.  

 
Yr amgylchedd hanesyddol 
 
2. Dengys ymchwil Croeso Cymru ynghylch ymwelwyr nad ydynt yn byw yng Nghymru 

fod diddordeb mewn cestyll a safleoedd hanesyddol yn ffactor hollbwysig yn eu 
penderfyniad i ymweld â Chymru: 
 

- Roedd 58% o‟r ymwelwyr a holwyd yn awyddus iawn i ymweld â mannau, 
safleoedd hanesyddol ac atyniadau penodol 

- Roedd 61% o‟r ymwelwyr o dramor yn nodi bod cestyll neu atyniadau 
hanesyddol yn rhesymau penodol dros ymweld â Chymru; yn ddiamau dyma‟r 
rheswm penodol mwyaf cyffredin dros ddymuno ymweld â Chymru 

- Daeth 34% o‟r ymwelwyr a oedd yn aros yn y DU ac a holwyd yn arolwg 
ymwelwyr Croeso Cymru yn 2013 i weld cestyll neu safleoedd hanesyddol 
eraill.  

 
3. Ceir amrywiadau rhanbarthol o safbwynt tarddiad ymwelwyr, ond yn y misoedd 

prysuraf (hy mis Gorffennaf a mis Awst) mae tua 24% yn byw yng Nghymru, daw 
60% o fannau eraill yn y DU a daw 16% o dramor. 
 

Gwariant twristiaid 
 

4. Mae sector yr amgylchedd hanesyddol yn cefnogi dros 30,000 o swyddi. Yn 2010, bu 
i‟r adroddiad Gwerthfawrogi Amgylchedd Hanesyddol Cymru gan Ecotec Research 
and Consulting Ltd amcangyfrif bod gwariant gan ymwelwyr y gellir ei briodoli i‟r 
amgylchedd hanesyddol wedi cyfrannu rhyw £330 miliwn at werth ychwanegol 
crynswth (GYC) Cymru, a thros £610 miliwn o ran cynnyrch. O gynnwys effeithiau 
anuniongyrchol ac ysgogedig, amcangyfrifir bod gwariant gan ymwelwyr yn sector yr 
amgylchedd hanesyddol yn cefnogi dros 14,880 o swyddi cyfwerth ag amser llawn 
yng Nghymru. 
 

5. O blith y 129 o safleoedd o dan ofal Cadw, mae 30 ohonynt yn codi tâl mynediad. Yn 
2013-14, gwariodd ymwelwyr gyfanswm o £4,860,269 ar y 30 safle. Roedd niferoedd 
cyffredinol yr ymwelwyr â‟r safleoedd sy‟n cael eu staffio gan Cadw yn sefydlog ym 
mlwyddyn ariannol 2013/14 o‟i gymharu â 2012/13 – 780,722 o ymweliadau â thâl a 
411,885 o ymweliadau am ddim. Cafwyd cynnydd neilltuol dros wyliau haf yr 
ysgolion a gwyliau banc mis Mai – gyda chynnydd sylweddol o ran ymweliadau gan 
deuluoedd ym mis Mai (cynnydd o 112% o‟r naill flwyddyn i‟r llall).  

 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 24



2 

 

6. Mae lefelau bodlonrwydd yn uchel ac yn gwella. Dangosodd arolwg Cadw yn 2013 y 
byddai 94% o‟r ymwelwyr â safleoedd Cadw yn eu hargymell i‟w teulu a‟u ffrindiau. 
Ategwyd y dystiolaeth hon gan dystiolaeth ar wefannau fel TripAdvisor lle sgoriodd 
pedwar castell Safleoedd Treftadaeth y Byd 4.5 allan o 5 a derbyniodd bob un 
ohonynt dystysgrif rhagoriaeth yn 2014.   
 

Y berthynas â Croeso Cymru 
 

7. Mae gan Cadw berthynas waith gref â Croeso Cymru ac maent wedi cydweithio i 
sicrhau bod eu blaenoriaethau strategol yn cydweddu â‟i gilydd ac i gyfuno‟u 
hymdrechion o ran twristiaeth. Mae hyn yn cynnwys rôl allweddol Cadw mewn 
ymgyrch farchnata uchel ei phroffil gwerth £4m a gynhaliwyd ar y cyd i hyrwyddo‟r 
prosiectau Amgylchedd ar gyfer Twf (E4G) sy‟n cael eu hariannu gan yr UE. Bu i 
Cadw fuddsoddi £50k yn yr ymgyrch hon a chafodd sylw ffafriol ynddi. Mae dwy o 
henebion Cadw i‟w gweld yn amlwg yn yr hysbyseb deledu, yn ogystal â‟r ymgyrch 
farchnata hollol integredig sy‟n cynnwys post uniongyrchol, teledu, sinema, deunydd 
print, nawdd a hysbysebion ar-lein. 

 
8. Ymhlith enghreifftiau eraill o‟r gwaith partneriaeth rhwng Cadw a Croeso Cymru mae 

gwaith ymchwil ar y cyd ymhlith ymwelwyr i sicrhau cysondeb ac i arbed costau 
caffael. Comisiynwyd prosiect ymchwil ynghylch gwybodaeth i ymwelwyr mewn 
partneriaeth â Croeso Cymru, Amgueddfa Cymru, Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru a‟r 
Ymddiriedolaeth Genedlaethol. Mae Cadw hefyd yn arddangos yn sioeau masnach y 
diwydiant teithio ar y cyd â Croeso Cymru. 

 
9. Mae hyn wedi galluogi Cadw i feithrin partneriaethau cadarn â rhanddeiliaid a 

chymunedau, ac mae wedi‟i helpu i ddatblygu‟r profiad a‟r cynnyrch sydd ganddo i‟w 
cynnig ar ei brif safleoedd i ddenu mwy o ymwelwyr ac i greu mwy o refeniw i Cadw. 
Bydd yr incwm sy‟n cael ei godi gan Cadw drwy dâl mynediad yn cael ei ailfuddsoddi 
mewn gweithgareddau a gwelliannau i‟r gwasanaethau ar ei safleoedd. Caiff y rhain 
eu targedu‟n rhannol at deuluoedd incwm isel a grwpiau eraill nad ydynt yn cael eu 
cynrychioli‟n ddigonol. Hefyd, mae cymunedau o amgylch safleoedd treftadaeth yn 
dibynnu ar y safleoedd i godi‟u proffil ymhlith ymwelwyr ac i ddenu gwariant atodol 
gan ymwelwyr.  

 
10. Mae prif ymgyrchoedd marchnata eraill Cadw‟n apelio at rieni, drwy gynnig dyddiau 

allan difyr, diddorol a rhad i deuluoedd dros wyliau‟r haf yn bennaf. Ym mis Awst 
2013, cafwyd cynnydd o 14% o‟r naill flwyddyn i‟r llall yng nghyfanswm yr 
ymweliadau â thâl â safleoedd Cadw, ac roedd yr incwm a godwyd drwy dâl 
mynediad 27% yn uwch o‟i gymharu â‟r un mis yn 2012. 
 

11. Mae Cadw hefyd yn rhoi mwy o bwyslais ar farchnata digidol. Ar gyfartaledd, roedd 
cyfanswm yr ymweliadau a‟r ymweliadau unigryw â‟r wefan 66% yn uwch yn 2013 na 
2012, ac mae cynnydd o 40% ar gyfartaledd o ran nifer yr ymweliadau â thudalennau 
gwe‟n awgrymu bod pobl yn fwy bodlon â‟r cynnwys. Mae Cadw‟n defnyddio cyfrifon 
Facebook a Twitter i fynd ati i ryngweithio â phobl, ac mae cynlluniau marchnata 
2014 yn cynnwys cyflwyno adran ar-lein i aelodau, creu adran i blant ar y wefan, 
gwella‟r wefan at ddibenion chwilotwyr ar-lein, cyflwyno system ymaelodi ar-lein, 
defnyddio sianeli cyfryngau cymdeithasol newydd fel Pinterest, defnyddio ffeithlun ar-
lein i roi Cynllun Dehongli Cymru Gyfan ar waith, defnyddio ffilmiau newydd a 
rhyngweithio â blogwyr dylanwadol. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 25



3 

 

Prosiect Twristiaeth Treftadaeth 
 
12. Mae Cadw hefyd yn rheoli Prosiect Twristiaeth Treftadaeth i ddatblygu twristiaeth 

treftadaeth yng Nghymru. Nod y prosiect, sy‟n cael ei ariannu i raddau helaeth gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru a Chronfeydd Cydgyfeirio‟r UE, yw sicrhau‟r budd economaidd 
mwyaf o dreftadaeth drwy gynyddu nifer yr ymweliadau â Chymru, hyd yr 
ymweliadau hynny a‟u gwerth. Cychwynnodd y prosiect yn 2009 a bydd ar waith tan 
fis Mawrth 2015. Cyfanswm gwerth y prosiect yw £19m. 

 
13. Yn 2013, bu i brosiect ymchwil gan Ysgol Fusnes Caerdydd ar chwe safle mawr sy‟n 

gysylltiedig â‟r Prosiect Twristiaeth Treftadaeth ganfod £6.95m o werth ychwanegol 
crynswth (GYC) ychwanegol fesul safle ar gyfartaledd, ac roedd modd priodoli 
£1.75m o‟r GYC yn uniongyrchol i‟r safle. Y chwe safle oedd Gwaith Haearn 
Blaenafon, Castell Caernarfon, Castell Caerffili, Castell Conwy, Castell Harlech a 
Llys yr Esgob yn Nhyddewi. 

 
Safleoedd Treftadaeth y Byd 
 
14. Yn ogystal, mae Cymru‟n ymfalchïo yn y ffaith fod tri Safle Treftadaeth y Byd ymhlith 

ei threftadaeth gyfoethog, sef Cestyll a Muriau Trefi Edward I yng Ngwynedd, 
Tirwedd Ddiwydiannol Blaenafon a Thraphont Ddŵr a Chamlas Pontcysyllte. Mae‟r 
rhain yn safleoedd eiconig ac mae diwydiant llechi‟r Gogledd wedi‟i gynnwys ar restr 
fer y DU o‟r safleoedd a allai gael eu dynodi‟n Safleoedd Treftadaeth y Byd yn y 
dyfodol. 

 
15. Gyda‟i gilydd, mae‟r cestyll sy‟n cael eu rheoli gan Cadw yng Nghaernarfon, Conwy, 

Biwmares a Harlech yn creu un Safle Treftadaeth y Byd gan ddenu bron i 600,000 o 
ymwelwyr bob blwyddyn. Daw cyfanswm o £2.6m y flwyddyn ar gyfartaledd dim ond 
o‟r pedwar castell sy‟n rhan o‟r Safle Treftadaeth y Byd. 

 
16. Dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf, cyflawnwyd gwaith mawr i wella‟r cyfleusterau i 

ymwelwyr a‟r deongliadau yn y Safleoedd Treftadaeth y Byd o dan ofal Cadw. Yn sgil 
y gwaith hwn, cafwyd cynnydd yn nifer yr ymwelwyr a‟r incwm manwerthu. Er 
enghraifft, ers mis Chwefror 2012, yn sgil gwaith helaeth i wella‟r cyfleusterau i 
ymwelwyr yng Nghastell Conwy, mae niferoedd yr ymwelwyr a‟r incwm fel a ganlyn: 

 

Blwyddyn Ymwelwyr Incwm (y cyfan) 

2011-12 173,585 £847,981 

2012-13 167,823 £904,627 

2013-14 176,823 £1,030,344 

 
 
Digwyddiadau treftadaeth 
 
17. Mae digwyddiadau treftadaeth hefyd yn rhan bwysig o‟r hyn sydd gan dwristiaeth 

treftadaeth i‟w gynnig. Yn 2013-14, cynhaliodd Cadw dros 200 o ddigwyddiadau a 
dyddiau allan ar draws Cymru, gan gynnwys gweithgareddau cyfranogi ar ei 
safleoedd a sioeau haf, teithiau tywys, sgyrsiau, hanes byw a pherfformiadau byw. 
Mae Cadw wedi mynd ati‟n ofalus i sicrhau bod y digwyddiadau‟n gysylltiedig â 
chynlluniau dehongli‟i henebion. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 26



4 

 

18. Mae „Drysau Agored‟ yn rhan o Ddiwrnodau Treftadaeth Ewrop sy‟n cael eu cynnal 
mewn 50 o wledydd ledled Ewrop. Bydd Cadw‟n rheoli‟r camau i roi „Drysau Agored‟ 
ar waith yn uniongyrchol am y tro cyntaf ym mis Medi 2014, gan gydweithio â 
phartneriaid o sefydliadau treftadaeth ar hyd a lled Cymru. 

 
19. Hwn yw‟r digwyddiad mwyaf yng Nghymru i ddathlu adeiladau, pensaernïaeth a 

safleoedd treftadaeth, a‟r digwyddiad mwyaf i wirfoddolwyr yn sector treftadaeth 
Cymru. Mae‟r rhaglen yn gwahodd sefydliadau treftadaeth, perchenogion preifat, 
awdurdodau lleol ac eraill i agor eu drysau a rhoi cyfle i‟r cyhoedd ddarganfod 
trysorau cudd a chrwydro ar hyd safleoedd hanesyddol am ddim rywbryd yn ystod 
mis Medi. 

 
20. Y llynedd bu i‟r rhaglen yng Nghymru ddenu dros 80,000 o ymwelwyr i 500 o 

ddigwyddiadau, a llwyddodd y rhaglen i ymgysylltu â chymunedau lleol ac ymwelwyr 
a oedd wedi teithio o fannau eraill. Mae 350 o leoliadau wedi cofrestru i agor eu 
drysau i‟r cyhoedd ym mis Medi eleni. 

 
Y Bil Treftadaeth 
 
21. Byddwn yn cyflwyno‟r Bil Treftadaeth i‟r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol y gwanwyn nesaf. 

Os caiff ei basio, darpariaethau‟r Bil hwn fydd y darpariaethau cyntaf ym maes yr 
amgylchedd hanesyddol i gael eu deddfu o ran Cymru‟n benodol. Bydd y Bil yn rhan 
o gorff integredig o ddeddfwriaeth, polisi, cyngor a chanllawiau a fydd yn cyflwyno 
gwelliannau pwysig i‟r modd y mae amgylchedd hanesyddol Cymru‟n cael ei 
warchod a‟i reoli‟n gynaliadwy. Bydd hyn yn sicrhau bod modd i‟n hamgylchedd 
hanesyddol barhau i roi buddion cymdeithasol, economaidd ac amgylcheddol 
ystyrlon i bobl Cymru, a chwarae rôl allweddol o ran yr hyn sydd gan Gymru i‟w 
gynnig i ymwelwyr.  

 
Twristiaeth Gweithgareddau 
 
Y Papur Gwyrdd Mynediad a Hamdden Awyr Agored 
 
22. Mae darllenwyr y Rough Guide wedi enwi Cymru fel un o‟r mannau gorau i ymweld â 

hi yn 2014. Roedd y darllenwyr yn edmygu‟r holl harddwch ffisegol sy‟n rhan o fas 
mor fach o dir, sy‟n cynnwys cadwyni gwych o fynyddoedd, dyffrynnoedd hardd, 
arfordir garw a chestyll hynafol.  
 

23. Mae gwelliannau parhaus sy‟n galluogi ymwelwyr i gael mynediad at gefn gwlad 
Cymru‟n ffactor pwysig i‟n galluogi i gystadlu â chyrchfannau eraill i ymwelwyr. 
Byddaf yn lansio‟r Papur Gwyrdd Mynediad a Hamdden Awyr Agored ar ôl toriad yr 
haf i gasglu sylwadau am ffyrdd o wella mynediad at dir i‟r cyhoedd a hwyluso 
mynediad gwirfoddol at ddŵr. 

 
24. Yn ôl Arolwg Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru o Hamdden Awyr Agored atyniadau natur yw‟r 

mannau y mae ymwelwyr sy‟n aros yng Nghymru yn ymweld â hwy fwyaf (73%), a 
hwy yw‟r atyniadau mwyaf poblogaidd ond un y mae ymwelwyr dydd yn fwyaf 
tebygol o ymweld â hwy (58%). Mae cerdded yn ysgogi gwerth £562 miliwn o alw 
ychwanegol yn economi Cymru, £275m o werth ychwanegol crynswth a thua 11,980 
o flynyddoedd gweithiwr.   
 

Y Ddeddf Teithio Llesol 

Tudalen y pecyn 27



5 

 

 
25. Yn unol â Deddf Teithio Llesol (2013), sef y cyntaf o‟i math yn y byd yn ôl pob tebyg, 

mae‟n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol Cymru fapio a chynllunio llwybrau addas ar gyfer 
teithio llesol, ac adeiladu a gwella‟u seilwaith cerdded a beicio bob blwyddyn. O 
wella‟r seilwaith, bydd yn creu gwell amodau i fusnesau sy‟n darparu gwyliau 
cerdded neu feicio yng Nghymru er mwyn iddynt ehangu mewn modd cynaliadwy. 
 

26. Gallai twristiaeth elwa‟n fawr ar hyn gan y bydd yn sicrhau ei bod hi‟n haws cyrraedd 
trefi a dinasoedd a‟i bod yn haws crwydro o‟u hamgylch. Byddwn yn annog yr 
Awdurdodau Lleol i ystyried a fyddai‟u diwydiant twristiaeth neu‟u diwydiant hamdden 
lleol yn elwa pe bai rhannau o‟u rhwydwaith yn hygyrch i geffylau. Bydd hyn yn 
ychwanegu at y cyfleusterau beicio mynydd o safon byd a‟r llwybrau cerdded a 
beicio cenedlaethol helaeth sydd gan Gymru i‟w cynnig i ymwelwyr, ochr yn ochr â 
Llwybr Arfordir Cymru. 

 
Llwybr Arfordir Cymru 
 
27. Pan agorwyd Llwybr Arfordir Cymru ar 5 Mai 2012, codwyd mwy o ymwybyddiaeth 

yn genedlaethol ac yn rhyngwladol o‟r llwybr hir hwn sy‟n 870 milltir o hyd. Roedd yn 
un o‟r prif resymau pam y bu i Lonely Planet enwi Arfordir Cymru yn “rhanbarth 
gorau‟r byd” i ymweld ag ef yn 2012. (Best in Travel, Lonely Planet, 2012). 

 
28. Dangosodd data arolwg gan Ysgol Fusnes Caerdydd yn 2013 fod Llwybr Arfordir 

Cymru wedi sicrhau 835,000 o arosiadau dros nos ac 1.6 miliwn o ymweliadau dydd 
gan oedolion rhwng mis Medi 2011 a mis Awst 2012. Amcangyfrifwyd bod y gwariant 
cyffredinol gan ymwelwyr y gellir ei briodol i Lwybr Arfordir Cymru wedi creu £32.2 
miliwn o alw ychwanegol yn economi Cymru. Ers hynny, mae astudiaethau wedi 
awgrymu ei fod yn cynhyrchu rhyw £16 miliwn o werth ychwanegol crynswth i 
economi Cymru bob blwyddyn. Mae hyn yn dangos potensial y sector hamdden awyr 
agored i economi Cymru. Bu i‟r gweithgarwch economaidd a ddeilliodd o gwblhau 
Llwybr Arfordir Cymru gyfrif am tua 730 blwyddyn gweithiwr.  

 
29. Sefydlwyd Grŵp Cyfathrebu a Marchnata Llwybr Arfordir Cymru fel fforwm i drafod y 

ffordd orau o ddefnyddio‟r cyfryngau cymdeithasol a‟r rhyngrwyd i hyrwyddo Llwybr 
yr Arfordir ac i wneud y gorau o‟r ymgyrchoedd cysylltiadau cyhoeddus sy‟n 
gysylltiedig ag ef. Mae swyddogion o‟r Adran Diwylliant a Chwaraeon, Croeso Cymru 
a Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru‟n aelodau o‟r grŵp hwn ac maent yn cydweithio‟n agos i 
sicrhau bod y prif negeseuon yn gyson ac yn ystyrlon. 

 
30. Yn ddiweddar, cynhaliwyd ymgyrch “Caru Arfordir Cymru” i ddathlu dwy flynedd ers 

lansio Llwybr yr Arfordir ond hefyd i roi cyhoeddusrwydd i‟r ffaith fod y Llwybr ar agor 
ar ôl y stormydd enbyd a gafwyd yn gynharach eleni. Bydd y Grŵp Cyfathrebu a 
Marchnata‟n ceisio hyrwyddo dwy ymgyrch arall eleni i helpu i gynnal y momentwm 
hyrwyddo. 

 
Y Parciau Cenedlaethol 
 
31. Mae dros 12 miliwn o bobl yn ymweld â‟r Parciau Cenedlaethol yng Nghymru bob 

blwyddyn sydd, yn ôl adroddiad Arup yn 2013, yn cyfrannu tua £1 biliwn o wariant at 
economi Cymru bob blwyddyn. Mae wyth o‟r 50 o atyniadau yng Nghymru sy‟n 
denu‟r nifer mwyaf o ymwelwyr wedi‟u lleoli yn y Parciau Cenedlaethol. Mae 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



6 

 

ymwelwyr â‟r Parciau Cenedlaethol yn cyfrif am gyfran sylweddol o ddiwydiant 
twristiaeth Cymru. 

 
32. Yr hyn sy‟n bwysig yw bod y Parciau Cenedlaethol yng Nghymru‟n denu cyfran uchel 

o ymwelwyr sy‟n aros dros nos, gydag ymwelwyr yn treulio 2.26 diwrnod yma ar 
gyfartaledd. Gan fod yr ymwelwyr yn dueddol o aros dros nos, mae gwariant 
cyfartalog ymwelwyr â‟r Parciau yng Nghymru yn uwch, sef £87 y pen, o‟i gymharu â 
£60 yng ngweddill y DU.  

 
33. Nid yw ffiniau‟r Parciau‟n cyfyngu ar yr ymwelwyr ac mae‟r sectorau twristiaeth tu 

mewn a thu allan i‟r Parciau‟n dibynnu‟n fawr ar ei gilydd. Mae‟r Parciau 
Cenedlaethol yn cyfrannu‟n gadarnhaol at „frand‟ twristiaeth Cymru ac mae statws a 
phroffil y Parciau Cenedlaethol yn ddihafal o‟u cymharu â rhannau eraill o Gymru. 

 
34. Mae‟r Parciau Cenedlaethol yn arwain y blaen o ran y marchnadoedd twf ym maes 

twristiaeth antur a thwristiaeth gynaliadwy, ac mae ethos y Parciau‟n cydweddu‟n 
dda â‟r negeseuon y mae Cymru‟n ceisio‟u cyfleu i ddarpar ymwelwyr. 

 
Grŵp Tirweddau Gwarchodedig Croeso Cymru 
 
35. Mae‟r grŵp yn cynnwys cynrychiolwyr o‟r tri Pharc Cenedlaethol yng Nghymru, pum 

Ardal o Harddwch Naturiol Eithriadol, Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru, Croeso Cymru ac 
adrannau eraill Llywodraeth Cymru. Diben y grŵp yw hybu mwy o gydweddu 
strategol o ran blaenoriaethau, buddsoddiadau, datblygiadau a gwaith hyrwyddo ym 
maes twristiaeth, ac annog yr Ardaloedd o Harddwch Naturiol Eithriadol, 
Awdurdodau‟r Parciau Cenedlaethol a Chynlluniau Rheoli Cyrchfannau lleol, 
rhanbarthol a chenedlaethol i gydweithio mwy i ddatblygu‟r gwaith o reoli 
cyrchfannau twristiaeth mewn ardaloedd gwarchodedig yng Nghymru. Bydd hyn yn 
meithrin partneriaethau effeithiol, yn sicrhau bod dull cyson ar waith yn yr ardaloedd 
hyn i ddatblygu ac i hyrwyddo twristiaeth, ac yn osgoi dyblygu ymdrechion ac 
adnoddau. 

 
Twristiaeth Ddiwylliannol 
 

 
36. Wrth gwrs, mae amgueddfeydd ac orielau‟n atyniadau pwysig i ymwelwyr a gall 

digwyddiadau diwylliannol, fel gwyliau, hefyd ddenu nifer sylweddol o ymwelwyr. Gall 
gweithgareddau creadigol a diwylliannol sy‟n codi proffil Cymru o fewn y DU a 
thramor hefyd helpu i ddenu twristiaid i Gymru.  

 
Y Strategaeth Amgueddfeydd 
 
37. Mae ein Strategaeth Amgueddfeydd yn cydnabod gwerth twristiaeth ddiwylliannol ac 

mae‟n annog amgueddfeydd i gyfrannu at adeiladu economi gadarn drwy gyfrwng 
twristiaeth ddiwylliannol ac i hybu adfywio drwy gyfrwng diwylliant. 
 

38. Gan ddefnyddio data a gasglwyd yn 2011 a‟r pecyn asesu effaith economaidd a 
ddatblygwyd gan Gymdeithas yr Amgueddfeydd Annibynnol, amcangyfrifir bod 
amgueddfeydd lleol yn cyfrannu £128 miliwn at economi Cymru (sef £69.6 miliwn o‟r 
amgueddfeydd lleol a £58.3 miliwn o‟r amgueddfeydd cenedlaethol). 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 29



7 

 

39. Yn ystod 2012-13, bu 1.74 miliwn o bobl yn ymweld ag Amgueddfa Cymru. Roedd y 
ffigur ychydig yn is ar gyfer 2013-14, sef 1.63 miliwn (yn sgil y ffaith bod y Pasg yn 
hwyrach y flwyddyn honno) ond roedd yn uchel o hyd.  
 

 
Sain Ffagan 
 
40. Sain Ffagan yw atyniad unigol mwyaf Cymru i dwristiaid. Yn 2011, dywedodd 

darllenwyr y cylchgrawn Which? mai Sain Ffagan oedd eu hoff atyniad i ymwelwyr yn 
y DU. Rhoddodd Which? statws Darparwr a Argymhellir i Sain Ffagan hefyd, statws 
sy‟n cael ei chwennych gan lawer. Felly, mae‟r prosiect gwerth £25m i ailddatblygu 
Sain Ffagan yn anelu at gynyddu nifer yr ymwelwyr o 600,000 i 850,000 erbyn 2021. 
Dyma ymrwymiad sylweddol i ddatblygu diwydiant twristiaeth Cymru. Bydd y gwaith 
adeiladu yn cychwyn yn hydref 2014 a chaiff ei gwblhau erbyn 2017.  

 
41. Dyma‟r prif fuddion economaidd sy‟n gysylltiedig â phrosiect Sain Ffagan: 
 

- £500k o incwm masnachol ychwanegol drwy weithgareddau a masnach; 
- Rhwng £165k a £260k o wariant ychwanegol gan yr Amgueddfa yn economi 

Caerdydd; 
- Cyfraniad at broffil Caerdydd fel cyrchfan â chyfleusterau o ansawdd uchel i 

ymwelwyr; 
- Cyfraniad at fywiogrwydd economaidd cyffredinol a brand Caerdydd fel canolfan 

economaidd ac un o ddinasoedd mawr Ewrop. 
 

42. Amcangyfrifir y bydd ymwelwyr yn gwario £5.5m y flwyddyn yn ychwanegol yn ardal 
Caerdydd erbyn 2020-21. 

 
Partneriaethau 

 
43. Mae gwahanol weithgareddau partneriaeth hefyd ar waith neu wedi digwydd – 

arddangosfeydd celf uchel eu proffil o gasgliad Amgueddfa Cymru mewn pedair oriel 
gelf yn America; dathliadau Patagonia 2015; arddangosfeydd o Gymru yn Tsieina ac 
arddangosfeydd o Tsieina yng Nghymru; a chamau i ddatblygu deialog 
gydweithredol â Llyfrgell Shanghai. Mae‟r gweithgareddau hyn yn codi proffil Cymru 
a‟i diwylliant ar draws y byd. 

 
Arolwg Ymwelwyr Amgueddfeydd 2013 
 
44. Dangosodd Arolwg Ymwelwyr Amgueddfeydd 2013 fod amgueddfeydd Cymru‟n dal i 

fod yn boblogaidd. Byddai wyth o bob deg ymwelydd sy‟n ymweld ag amgueddfa yn 
ystod eu hymweliad â Chymru yn argymell bod ffrind neu berthynas yn ymweld â‟r 
amgueddfa. Yn ogystal â‟r argymhellion cadarnhaol gan y rhai sy‟n ymweld â‟r 
amgueddfeydd, dangosodd yr arolwg yr hyn a ganlyn hefyd:  

 
- Bod nifer yr ymwelwyr sy‟n credu bod ein hamgueddfeydd yn “lleoedd cyfeillgar a 

chroesawgar” wedi codi o 75% yn 2011 i 84% yn 2013 
 

- Bod 56% o‟r ymwelwyr tramor yn dweud eu bod wedi ymweld ag amgueddfa 
neu‟u bod yn bwriadu gwneud hynny yn ystod eu hymweliad â Chymru (o‟i 
gymharu â 27% ar draws y DU) 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 30



8 

 

- Mai ymweld ag amgueddfeydd yw‟r gweithgaredd mwyaf poblogaidd ond dau 
ymhlith ymwelwyr â Chymru (23%) – mynd i‟r traeth yw‟r gweithgaredd mwyaf 
poblogaidd (42%) 

  
- Y prif reswm pam fod y rhai sydd ar wyliau‟n ymweld ag amgueddfa yw er mwyn 

iddynt ddod i wybod am y lleoedd y maent yn ymweld â nhw neu‟n aros ynddynt 
(49%). Mae hyn yn sylweddol uwch na ffigur 2011, sef 31%. Rhoddir y rheswm 
hwn amlaf gan ymwelwyr tramor (78%) a thros hanner (54%) yr ymwelwyr o‟r DU 
sy‟n aros yma.  

 
- O ran proffil partïon, pobl sy‟n ymweld â Chymru ar eu pen eu hunain sydd fwyaf 

tebygol o ymweld ag amgueddfa. Mae tua chwarter (24%) eisoes wedi ymweld 
ag amgueddfa, ac mae 21% arall yn bwriadu gwneud hynny. Grwpiau wedi‟u 
trefnu a chymdeithasau sydd leiaf tebygol o ymweld ag amgueddfa, gyda dim ond 
14% yn dweud eu bod wedi gwneud hynny eisoes neu y byddant yn gwneud 
hynny. 

 
Sicrhau ansawdd o ran twristiaeth 
 
45. Rydym yn cydweithio â Croeso Cymru i ddarparu asesiadau VAQAS ar gyfer holl 

amgueddfeydd lleol achrededig Cymru (mae pob un ohonynt yn bodloni safon 
VAQAS ar hyn o bryd). Safon sicrwydd ansawdd sy‟n canolbwyntio ar dwristiaeth ac 
sy‟n cael ei gweinyddu yng Nghymru gan Croeso Cymru yw hon. 
 

46. Defnyddir adroddiadau VAQAS gan Croeso Cymru i ddarparu tystiolaeth er mwyn 
ennill achrediad. Mae‟r adroddiadau hyn yn rhoi gwybodaeth am safonau‟r 
gwasanaeth y mae ymwelwyr ag amgueddfeydd yn ei gael ac maent yn dangos 
cryfder yr amgueddfeydd a‟r orielau fel cyrchfannau i ymwelwyr. 

 
47. Yn ystod 2012/13, cafodd Tîm Marchnata Cyngor Wrecsam arian drwy raglen 

grantiau CyMAL i lunio strategaeth genedlaethol i ddatblygu cynulleidfa ac i 
farchnata amgueddfeydd a sefydliadau treftadaeth Cymru. Lansiwyd y Strategaeth 
ym mis Hydref 2013 yng nghynhadledd uchel ei phroffil Cymdeithas Amgueddfeydd 
y DU yn Lerpwl. 

 
48. Bu i‟r ymchwil ymhlith rhanddeiliaid ar gyfer y Strategaeth bennu dau brif faes i 

ganolbwyntio arnynt: 
 

- Meithrin gallu a chynaliadwyedd gwaith marchnata ar draws holl amgueddfeydd 
Cymru (hyfforddiant, meithrin sgiliau, gwirfoddoli, ymchwil marchnad) 

 
- Hybu, codi proffil a hyrwyddo manteision amgueddfeydd ar hyd a lled Cymru 

heddiw (cydweithio â phartneriaid ym maes twristiaeth, eiriolaeth, cymryd rhan 
mewn mentrau cenedlaethol a sefydlu Gwobr Amgueddfeydd Cymru) 

 
Twristiaeth sy’n gysylltiedig â’r Celfyddydau 
 
49. Yn ogystal â diffinio delwedd Cymru, mae ein hatyniadau a‟n gwyliau diwylliannol 

hefyd yn fusnesau mawr. Mae sawl rhan o‟r sectorau diwylliannol a‟r celfyddydau‟n 
atyniadau pwysig i ymwelwyr – o Ganolfan Mileniwm Cymru i‟n gwyliau rhyngwladol 
fel Gŵyl y Gelli, Gŵyl Jazz Aberhonddu, Green Man a Dylan Thomas 100. Mae 

Tudalen y pecyn 31



9 

 

ffilmiau sy‟n cael eu saethu yng Nghymru hefyd yn creu marchnad i‟r rheini sydd am 
ymweld â‟r lleoliadau gwreiddiol. 
 

50. Mae twristiaeth ddiwylliannol yn creu galw am wasanaethau cludiant, llety, ac arlwyo 
a gwasanaethau busnesau eraill sy‟n gysylltiedig â thwristiaeth. Mae celfyddydau 
Cymru hefyd yn helpu i roi Cymru ar y map rhyngwladol. 

 
51. Mae gweithgarwch rhyngwladol ein hartistiaid a‟n sefydliadau celfyddydol, yn 

broffesiynol ac yn amatur, yn gallu codi proffil Cymru ar lwyfan y byd, ac mae‟n 
gwneud hynny. Mae‟r gwyliau niferus sy‟n cael eu cynnal ar hyd a lled Cymru bob 
blwyddyn mewn ystod eang o genres hefyd yn cefnogi‟r gwaith hyrwyddo. Gwelsom 
lwyddiant Womex yng Nghaerdydd y llynedd. 

 
52. Eleni, mae digwyddiadau‟n cael eu cynnal yma ac yn rhyngwladol i ddathlu geni 

Dylan Thomas. Dyma enghraifft berffaith o waith partneriaeth ag Adran yr Economi, 
Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth a hefyd ag awdurdodau lleol, Cyngor Celfyddydau 
Cymru a‟r BBC. Y flwyddyn nesaf byddwn yn dathlu 150 mlynedd ers i‟r Cymry 
gyrraedd Patagonia a bydd ein sefydliadau celfyddydol yn rhan o‟r dathliadau a 
gynhelir yma ac yn y Wladfa. 

 
Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru 

 
53. Mae Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru‟n gyrchfan bwysig ym maes twristiaeth 

ddiwylliannol yn y Canolbarth. Mae yno wyth ardal arddangos, cyfleusterau i 
ymwelwyr, a rhaglen ddifyr o ddigwyddiadau diwylliannol. 
 

54. Mae‟r Llyfrgell hefyd wedi mynd ati, ochr yn ochr ag Amgueddfa Cymru, i feithrin 
partneriaethau pwysig â gwledydd eraill, gan gynnwys Tsieina, UDA, Ariannin a 
Japan. 
 

55. Mae‟n cyfrannu at y gwaith o hyrwyddo Cymru i‟r byd, gan gynnwys cymryd rhan 
mewn mentrau cenedlaethol a rhyngwladol, fel: 

 
- cefnogi dathliadau Dylan Thomas 100 drwy gynnal arddangosfa fawr yn 2014, a 

chymryd rhan mewn gweithgareddau ar y cyd â Chyngor Celfyddydau Cymru, 
Bwrdd Twristiaeth Ceredigion a Llenyddiaeth Cymru; 

 
- cyfrannu deunydd digidol sy‟n ymwneud â diwylliant a threftadaeth Cymru i fenter 

ryngwladol Europeana / Llyfrgell Ddigidol Ewrop, lle y gellir cael gafael ar 
ddeunydd wedi‟i ddigido o dros 46 gwlad drwy un porth ar-lein 

 
- cefnogi camau i ymgysylltu â chymunedau alltud ym Mhatagonia a Gogledd 

America, gan ddefnyddio technoleg ddigidol. 
 

 
56. Ymhellach, mae gwasanaeth treftadaeth digidol Casgliad y Werin Cymru‟n dal i 

annog ac i alluogi unigolion a chymunedau i rannu‟u straeon drwy ddefnyddio 
gwefan Casgliad y Werin ac adnoddau sydd ar gael am ddim ar-lein. Mae hwn yn 
wasanaeth hollbwysig sydd wedi gwella‟n sylweddol yr wybodaeth sy‟n cael ei rhoi 
a‟i rhannu ynghylch ein diwylliant a‟n treftadaeth. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 32



10 

 

57. I grynhoi, mae ein diwylliant a‟n treftadaeth yn meithrin enw da Cymru ac mae‟n 
annog ymwelwyr i ddod yma. Mae ein diwylliant a‟n treftadaeth yn ein gwneud yn 
wahanol ac mae angen rhoi gwybod i bobl am yr hyn sy‟n gwneud Cymru‟n wlad 
wahanol i roi rheswm iddynt ymweld â hi. Ochr yn ochr â Croeso Cymru a gwahanol 
bartneriaid eraill tu mewn a thu allan i‟r Llywodraeth, byddwn yn parhau i sicrhau ein 
bod yn elwa i‟r eithaf ar ein hasedau wrth farchnata a datblygu twristiaeth yng 
Nghymru. 

 
 
 
John Griffiths AC 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant a Chwaraeon 
Mehefin 2014 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



         

 

INQUIRY INTO TOURISM: National Assembly for Wales’ Enterprise and Business 

Committee 

Written evidence submission from the Arts Council of Wales 

 

Who we are 

Arts Council of Wales is an independent charity, established by Royal Charter in 

1994. Its members are appointed by the Welsh Government’s Minister for Culture 

and Sport. Our principal sponsor is the Welsh Government. We also distribute 

funding from the National Lottery and raise additional money where we can from a 

variety of public and private sector sources. 

We are the country’s funding and development organisation for the arts.  

Working together with the Welsh Government, we are able to show how the arts are 

helping to meet the Government’s policy ambitions. 

Our future goals and strategy for the arts are captured in Inspire our strategy for 

Creativity and the arts in Wales. 

The strategy emerged from an extensive period of innovative consultation. It 

attempts to frame what we and the arts sector see as some of the critical challenges 

of current times for Wales. Our Council has reaffirmed its mission as working towards 

a Wales where the arts are central to the life of the nation. 

If we address what we set out to do in Inspire our strategy concludes that at the end 

of the present decade: 

We might see a Wales where the intelligent management of public investment allows 

the arts to flourish beyond a dependency on subsidy alone.  A Wales where the role of 

the artist and cultural entrepreneur has been able to develop significantly and is 

acknowledged and valued.  A Wales where the reach of the arts extends across all 

communities, regardless of wealth, language or locality.  A Wales that has transformed 

Tudalen y pecyn 34

Eitem 3

http://www.artscouncilofwales.org.uk/3207.file.dld
http://new.wales.gov.uk/
http://www.lotterygoodcauses.org.uk/


the life chances of our young people, equipping them for adult life.  A Wales that is 

dynamically connected to the rest of the world through the activities of the arts and the 

networks that they create.    

 

And bringing all these things to life, art that inspires, excites and moves us. 

In short, Wales the creative country. 

 

What we do 

Our focus currently and in the medium term is on the continued viability and 

sustainability of what is being achieved in Wales by the creative sector. The years of 

Devolution have seen growth in cultural achievement and profile for that 

achievement in the UK and critically internationally. This has been delivered through 

developing infrastructure from major to modest but all having impact on the offer 

Wales presents from a Wales Millennium Centre (Wales’ leading tourist attraction) to 

a Galeri in Caernarfon. A vibrant cultural scene can add to the attractiveness of a 

destination – even if it is not the main draw in itself. Galeri for example was certainly 

not conceived – or indeed is it now – as operating as a tourist destination per se but 

it has contributed considerably to a café scene and the sustainability of hotels in the 

area. It was the cornerstone of the Victoria Dock development and now the whole 

area is thriving and attractive with plenty of places to browse and pass time. This 

physical infrastructure has current developments to it…the arrival of Pontio the 

completion of the Glynn Vivian Art Gallery in Swansea.  

But buildings need animating through ideas and creativity. Recent successes have 

been chalked up by all our national organisations, through to smaller companies and 

enterprises. They are providing locally recognised value and also on occasion 

internationally sought after product. Where the marketplace is away from Wales we 

have sought to attract it here as in the staging of WOMEX last year in Cardiff. What is 

being achieved culturally in Wales is functioning with relatively and comparatively 

low levels of subsidy. Put starkly and startlingly in relation to what is being achieved 

by our arts organisations, this is at a cost of 33p a week to the population of Wales 

and it represents just 0.23% of the total spend of Government. Overall the creative 

sector sustains 30,000 jobs in Wales with just under 6,000 of those in the roster of 

organisations and companies we fund on a yearly basis. It is however a vulnerable 

and fragile sector. 

We know we are entering even more stringent times and that where we partner with 

local authorities the arts as non-statutory are being hit hard and the quality of life 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



and Wales’s offer will potentially emerge poorer. We know too that we have an 

unprecedented possibility of working through proposals on the place of creativity 

and the arts in our classrooms which hold out the prospect of being 

transformational. We know that where we have made inroads internationally this 

could be vital for the sustainability of our inventive arts companies. Creative product 

from Wales experienced abroad is a calling card for the country. 

And tourism?  We know £146m was spent in 2011 in the Welsh economy by tourists 

where the principal motivation to visit was a cultural one. 

 

Culture and Tourism 

As a Council we have sought good and productive relationships with Visit Wales and 

Major Events and these have matured considerably in recent times. But the strategic 

work and committment to aid and abet in the area of developing tourism can be 

traced back in collaborative work together with an early focal point being the jointly 

commissioned research delivered back in 2009 on Cultural Tourism.  

Some of the conclusions of that research Strategic Marketing still hold and Visit 

Wales renewed strategy which we support now aims to address points made here in 

the executive summary of the report:  

 
The wide definition of cultural tourism used by Visit Wales is in tune with the way that the 
public thinks and makes choices between destinations. However the public think in terms of 
a range of things to do and see, not in terms of cultural activities. 
  
2.61 The term cultural tourism does not seem to be helpful from a marketing perspective. 
Amongst the public, the term cultural tourism appeals to only a very small minority and is 
typically described as ‘high’ culture. The alternative, much broader, Visit Wales definition is 
too wide to help define market segments. 
  
2.62 The public tend to think of cultural destinations as cities rather than countries and 
Cardiff is not seen as a cultural destination. As a consequence, the concept of promoting 
Wales as a cultural destination is an inappropriate objective at present. 
  
2.63 Awareness of specific things to do in Wales is a weakness and appears to be no better 
than it was in the 2003 research even amongst those that have visited Wales. The question 
needs to be asked whether there is a real weakness compared to competitor regions or 
whether this is a perception. 
  
2.64 Wales’ promotional activities should reflect the way that the public thinks and focus 
strongly on things to do and see. The public tends to look for things to do and see within a 
more concentrated area than Wales as a whole. This suggests that the promotional 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



emphasis should be on smaller recognisable areas. City breaks for example could be 
considered a prime example of focusing on a small area. 
  
2.65 Within these areas promotion must encompass a range of things to do and see, so that 
the diverse interests of individuals and groups are catered for. This must include all types of 
shopping. Accommodation and food, catering for a variety of tastes and budgets are always 
an important element in the mix. Wales’ target customer is the independent traveller and by 
definition they are not looking for packaged holidays but suggested ‘things to do’ itineraries 
would be valuable. 
  
2.66 Cardiff is not perceived as a city break destination but is seen as the only viable 
contender in Wales. Sporting events and rock concerts have significantly raised awareness 
of the city since 2003, yet most people do not feel that there is any particular reason outside 
of an event to visit the city. 
 
2.67 A key activity for Cardiff and other areas would therefore seem to be improving the 
awareness of things to do with existing visitors when they are in an area through various 
forms of ‘point of sale’ material or pre-visit information. Co-ordinated promotional activities 
between event organisers and other tourism operators should be a priority. 
  
2.68 Cardiff needs to create and promote an identity that is attractive and different from its 
much larger and well established competitors. The ‘city region’ concept may have a broader 
appeal than just Cardiff.  
 
(The full Executive Summary is appended here see Appendix1) 

In between times from this report to the present, Arts Council of Wales continued to 

be a participant in the Cultural Tourism Partnership, but some of the strategic 

challenges and the consideration of the overall targeting of the independent explorer 

has had to wait to the new strategy and the most recent campaigns where this 

confident alignment of tone and the offer and cultural confidence in what Wales 

offers is beginning to come through. Our starting position would still be that Wales is 

not getting its potential market share of day visitors, short break or international 

visitors. Arts Council is a component part of helping build this…developing the 

substance and content of the product.  

Recent research we have commissioned from Bonnar Keenlyside around a 

collaborative idea that the National Companies are wanting to advance around an 

internationally ambitious Festival of art using place and setting,  concludes similarly 

about market opportunity if the ambitious growth strategy for the value of visitors to  

Wales contribution to National turn-over is to be met: 

There are strong indicators of a substantial unmet demand from potential visitors to 
Wales for cultural activity. Visit Wales has identified over 11m ‘cultural explorers’ 
who might visit Wales should the right proposition be available*. This would be likely 
to offer a sense of exploration, a sense of welcoming and contemporary culture and 
events and activities which would be deemed worth overcoming barriers around 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



perceptions of poor weather. A festival could spear-head the development of a new 
offer to add to the current tourism strategies, reflecting Wales as a vibrant and 
welcoming contemporary creative nation with a unique product. This could add a 
cultural tourism strand to the current strategy. 

* Barriers to Visiting Wales :Report by TNS December 2012 

So the question is where in constrained times can we extract most value and where 

should we focus? 

Talking Shops or Tasks and Active Learning Projects? The case of Music Tourism 

Because the overall holistic approach to Tourism is only a recent development in 

thinking, in recent years the vehicle for dealing with Cultural Tourism was focussed 

on a partnership but one where the contributions were the accumulation of projects 

each participating organisation had or was advancing. This had its place but it 

probably could only marginally effect the inroads into latent markets which the new 

strategy demands. We can only reflect our experience here. 

 The Cultural Tourism Action Plan was a compilation of actions individually and in a 

stand-alone fashion led by various of the partners with now wrap around in a change 

in presentation of the country as a whole if anything slightly contradictory and 

Unconfident messages about Wales’s contemporary culture. Arts Council of Wales for 

example combined its strategic work on supporting the development of music with 

the desire of the Partnership group to see Music Tourism develop and took 

ownership of this aspect of the plan. Four years ago this was to take the form of a 

transnational European Project to link music cultures and tourism approaches across 

several countries on the Atlantic Arc. With changes in the definition of eligibility in 

the call for projects in the latter part of the cycle, this proved impossible to pursue, 

but parallel to this we were already developing plans for attracting WOMEX to Cardiff 

with support from Major Events. This was also taken into the Action plan of the 

Cultural Tourism Partnership. It was our intention to parallel the development of the 

WOMEX project with a Digi -Music Tourism project which received research money 

from Visit Wales but which did not eventually become a fully-fledged project. Timing 

issues and reporting issues meant we were unable to secure European monies via 

Visit Wales digital funds in due time to make the project a reality. 

 

Post WOMEX we are now again investigating new European funding routes and 

partners for a Music /Economic/Tourism project. We would still feel that the music 

offer of Wales is not being fully mobilised in ways which attract, but that the assets 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



for building music tourism are there. The analysis of untapped potential is known by 

Visit Wales and the work with Major Events has been key to date in helping advance 

this. (For Analysis based on UK research see Appendix 2). 

 

Festivals: present and future building block in the cultural offer 

We have maintained close liaison and a sharing of perspectives with Major Events in 

recent years. We have a shared analysis of the importance of some signature 

Festivals (Hay, Langollen, Beyond the Border) which bring together place and a 

distinctive cultural offer, serving to distinguish events from other places or becoming 

a brand leader in its field (e.g. Green Man). We are joining together in a piece of work 

to examine the needs of a burgeoning sector and its potential within the cultural 

offer against the background of both cultural and economic and social returns. Our 

pattern of investment as an Arts Council through the National Lottery has been 

transformed since our strategic Investment Review in 2010-11 and the setting up of 

Festival Funding as a priority strand in Lottery. This is the resulting picture:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ARTS COUNCIL FUNDING FOR FESTIVALS 

 

Situation Pre our strand of Festival Funding 

Average annual funding to Festivals £487,606, supporting on average 28 Festivals 

through annual revenue grants and project funding 

 

 

Festivals Fund – large grants awarded 

2012/13 

37 projects funded totalling £1,522,074 – an average of £41,137 per Festival 

  

2013/14 

57 projects funded to date totalling £2,238,877 – an average of £39,279 per Festival  

We have surveyed the Festivals and the picture emerging from this research shows: 

When asked about the impact of the Festivals fund: 

• 92% stated that they agreed or strongly agreed that it had enhanced the 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



quality of their artistic product 

• 92% agreed or strongly agreed that it had enhanced the range of artistic 

product 

• 64% agreed or strongly agreed that the quality of marketing had 

improved with 84% agreeing or strongly agreeing that the reach of their 

marketing had been improved 

• 92% agreed or strongly agreed that they had connected with new 

audiences 

• 56% agreed or strongly agreed that it had supported infrastructure 

developments with 36% agreeing or strongly agreeing that it had had an 

impact on their business planning and governance arrangements 

• 44% agreed or strongly agreed that funding had increased the Festival’s 

earned income potential with 52% agreeing or strongly agreeing that it 

had helped to source other funding streams 

• 75% agreed or strongly agreed that it enhanced the Festival’s networks 

• 92% agreed or strongly agreed that it had raised the Festival’s profile in 

Wales with 84% believing that it had raised the Festival’s profile in the UK 

and 76% of the view that it had raised the Festival’s profile internationally.  

• 92% agreed or strongly agreed that receiving Festivals funding from the 

Arts Council of Wales had improved the Festival’s long term prospects 

 

96% of the Festivals we currently fund stated that they could not survive without 

funding from the Arts Council of Wales. 

 

The work we plan with Major Events and Visit Wales will be aimed at better 

understanding the actual and potential economic impact allied to such cultural 

activity. Some of this needs to be around the messaging of this offer in Wales’ 

cultural calendar. In tandem with the coming on stream of the Festivals Fund and at a 

time when such messaging wasn’t being positioned in Visit Wales material, we 

decided to convey the idea ourselves in a 2011 bilingual publication (English version 

attached Appendix 3)  

 

Dylan Thomas 100 

We currently have a collaborative project bringing together agencies like ourselves, 

Government and local authorities a partnership which combines, cultural production, 

tourism promotion, international recognition and image building. Whilst we are 

confident of quality and of content in the programme and that the in-year returns 

will be delivered it is clear that matters will need to be tracked over a longer period 

as the exposure to Wales is enhanced in 2014 nationally, through Press coverage and 

the BBC’s seasons, and internationally through a programme led by the British 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



Council. It’s proving to be a successful event drawing attention to Dylan’s work and 

the inspiration of place. Aligning the promotional timescales of Tourism campaigns 

and arts development of content will always prove tricky but other small nations are 

now ahead of Wales in aligning cultural content and promotion of what the place has 

to offer. Dylan Thomas 100 signals ways of working and focus building across 

agencies which could have dividends. 

Changing perceptions 

What cultural foregrounding of contemporary creativity in Wales can do over time is 

shift perceptions in the target niche of 11 million would-be explorers of what Wales 

has to offer. WOMEX generated editorial to a specialist market which is estimated as 

an equivalent to advertising spend of just under £1m. National Theatre Wales are 

streaming live events and finding audiences in 70 countries. Artes Mundi now has a 

very developed international network with over six hundred submissions to its 

biennial prize. Closer discussions and collaboration is a feature of our current Public 

value partnership work with the broadcasters BBC and S4C. We are pleased to be 

part of the steering group currently embarked on a final project of the Capital 

Regional Tourism organisation focussing on Cardiff’s offer. It will be important that 

the Capital Regional perspective is not lost going forward.  

Our cultural events are attracting increasing amounts of broad sheet coverage. 

Hinterland is taken up particularly in its welsh language version by a whole range of 

international network broadcasters (…but is it safe to visit Aberystwyth!?).  

Culture can create tourism …but just thinking tourism in isolation will not generate 

culture. Our tourism can be based on contemporary Wales and its richness and its 

heritage and contemporary creativity. Markets it has not yet exploited to the full can 

be further opened up if we can find the right overarching portrayal of Wales and the 

on the ground delivery of focused projects.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



 

 
Executive Summary 

Cultural Tourism Research 
 
 

Visit Wales and the Arts Council of Wales 
 

April 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

              
 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

Content             Page 
 
 
 
1.    Background and Methodology 3
 Research Objectives 3
 Sample 4
 Composition of Focus Groups 5
  
2.    Main Findings and Recommendations 6
 Understanding Cultural Tourism 6
 Cultural Destinations 7
 Cultural Tourists 7
 The Pure Cultural Tourist 8
 The Casual Cultural Tourist 9
 The Accidental Cultural Tourist 9
 Decision Making 10
 The Decision Process 10
 Type of Tourist 10
 Sources of Information 11
 Views Of Wales 11
 Wales as a Cultural Destination 12
 The Welsh Language 13
 Barriers to Visiting Wales 14
 Implications and Recommendations 14

Tudalen y pecyn 43



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

1. Background and Methodology 

1.1 The national tourism strategy “Achieving Our Potential 2006-2013” identified 
the need to prepare a cultural tourism action plan for Wales to realise the 
tourism potential of Wales’ cultural assets.  

1.2 The Cultural Tourism Steering Group was set up in May 2008 following a 
review of cultural tourism, with the aims of providing strategic leadership and 
to drive initiatives. Their initial task has been to produce a costed action plan 
to take Cultural Tourism forward up to 2011. 

1.3 The steering group is chaired by Visit Wales and includes representatives 
from Cadw, Cymal and the Cultural Directorate from within the Department of 
Heritage, the National Museum, the Arts Council of Wales, the Welsh 
Language Board, Welsh Local Government Association and the Wales 
Tourism Alliance. 

1.4 The steering group has highlighted the need to follow up on research that 
was conducted in 2003 in order to assess how cultural tourism perceptions 
have changed. The 2003 research was useful for evaluating cultural tourism, 
the perception of Wales and its position in the cultural tourism market and 
the main barriers to visiting Wales. 

1.5 Visit Wales and the Arts Council of Wales on behalf of the Welsh Assembly 
Government’s Cultural Tourism Steering Group commissioned focus group 
research to examine perceptions of Wales as a cultural tourism destination 
and to gain an insight into the needs and behaviour of visitors interested in 
undertaking cultural visits and activities. 

 

Research Objectives 

1.6 The overall aim of the project was to review Wales’ position as a cultural 
tourism destination in the eyes of key markets. And to show trends in 
perceptions and cultural tourism habits since the benchmarking research in 
2003. 

1.7 The specific objectives of the study were to: 

 examine perceptions of Wales as a cultural tourism destination; 

 assess Wales position in the cultural tourism market; 

 build on similar research conducted in 2003 in order to access changes 
in perceptions of Wales as a cultural tourism destination; 

 gain insight into the motivations of visitors interested in undertaking 
cultural visits and activities; 

 identify the main barriers to visiting Wales; 

 explore the behaviour of visitors in advance of their visit in terms of 
information. 

 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 3 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 44



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

1.8 Visit Wales has approached cultural tourism from the viewpoint that all 
tourism has culture as an intrinsic part of the total visitor experience. For the 
purposes of this research project, cultural tourism was understood as being 
visits to a destination with the purpose (solely or partly) of experiencing any 
of the following aspects: 

 heritage attractions, museums and art/craft galleries 

 craft workshops 

 performing arts 

 carnivals, festivals and events 

 historic and contemporary gardens 

 cultural landscape, including many of the rural traditions 

 sense of place in towns and villages 

 the Welsh language, the people of Wales and their heritage 

 

Sample 

1.9 Respondents were selected to be typical of the target market for cultural 
tourism in Wales, following a similar structure to the 2003 research. 

1.10 All were ‘Independent Explorers’, defined by their agreement with all of the 
following statements: 

 I enjoy discovering new experiences and places to visit within the United 
Kingdom 

 I prefer to be independent and do my own thing when taking holidays 
and breaks 

 I get a real sense of achievement and satisfaction planning and 
organising my own trip 

 I like to learn about the local way of life and culture of the places I visit 

 I like to visit places that are still undiscovered by tourists 
 

1.11 Defined by their last UK break, 50% were cultural tourists and 50% general 
tourists. To be defined as a cultural tourist, respondents had to agree 
strongly that at least two of the following were very important in their choice 
of destination for their last UK break or holiday; a general tourist had to agree 
that at least one was very or quite important: 

 Museums/galleries to visit 

 Stately homes/gardens to visit 

 Specific ‘cultural’ events e.g. festivals, theatre, opera etc  

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 4 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 45



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

 Historical, cultural sights e.g. castles, overall architecture etc 
 

1.12 All respondents were decision makers on holidays / short breaks, and had 
taken at least one overnight trip in the UK in the last year. In each English 
and Irish group half of those had been to Wales, and the remainder did not 
reject the idea of going to Wales. All stayed independently in paid-for 
accommodation (i.e. did not only stay with family / friends). We excluded 
people who only go on commercially organised packages (e.g. coach trips). 

 

1.13 We had a roughly equal numbers of men & women in each focus group, and 
excluded anyone employed in market research or tourism. 

 

Composition of Focus Groups 

1.14 There were 11 focus groups with 87 respondents present (8 respondents at 
all except for one group of 7). Fieldwork was conducted between 4th & 24th 
February 2009. 

1.15 The groups were split by location, and by life stage as shown in table below. 
In Wales one group was in Cardiff, the other in Colwyn Bay in order to pick 
up any differences in opinion between those living in the north and south.  

 
 

  Wales SE Midlands North Ireland 

Adults aged 20-40 yrs who 
travel mainly in parties of 
adults 

Colwyn Bay Wimbledon Sutton Coldfield  Dublin 

Adults aged 25-45 who 
travel mainly in parties with 
children 

 Wimbledon  Altrincham Dublin 

Adults aged 40-70 yrs who 
travel mainly in parties of 
adults 

Cardiff  Sutton Coldfield Altrincham Dublin 

 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 5 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 46



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

2. Main Findings and Recommendations 

Understanding Cultural Tourism 

2.1 Visit Wales has approached cultural tourism from the viewpoint that all 
tourism has culture as an intrinsic part of the total visitor experience. This 
research and that undertaken in 2003 endorses this approach.   

2.2 In the context of tourism consumers interpret culture as all aspects of a 
destination that create its special, even unique character. This includes the 
range of categories defined by Visit Wales and some people say includes 
almost everything. It was in many ways easier to define what was not cultural 
– somewhere without a sense of place such as a spa break or sun and sand.  

2.3 However it is vital to understand that most people do not use the word 
culture to describe these categories or think of them as cultural. They call 
them “things to do”, “activities” or “attractions”.  The following quotes are 
typical: 

 

“Culture is “Castles.  Museums. Something specific to the area what’s local. 
History” …”Local people and what they’ve done in the past”  (Sale, families) 

“I think of history, I think of buildings and things which are quite antiquated.”  
…. “theatre”  “… people as well”  “It’s the way of life” … “what they do and 
what they eat” … “culture is just what makes a place a place, like 
Birmingham culture is … the curries, … the Bull Ring, … the accent.  It’s all 
those things.”  (Birmingham, pre-family adults) 

“Heritage is culture.  It depends … on how you define it, but for some of us it 
is the food, it is going to Rick Stein’s, … culture’s one of these big words that 
changes its shape” (Cardiff, post family) 

“Wales, that slate mine we went to was fantastic and we got a demonstration 
of the slates… I suppose culture whatever is going on locally you know. You 
can find it everywhere you go.”  (Dublin, post family) 

 

2.4 When the term ‘cultural tourism’ was introduced to groups this usually 
evoked thoughts of a focus on the performing arts, galleries and possibly 
museums. Only a small minority would see themselves as a ‘cultural tourist’. 
People often describe this as ‘high-culture’ and it alienates more people than 
it appeals to as illustrated by these quotes: 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 6 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 47



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

 

“String quartets … Shakespeare”…  “culture to me … I would always think of 
it as being quite middle class and a bit hoity (toity)” (Birmingham, post family 
adults) 

 “I’m looking for heritage and things like that …  the term culture tends not to 
come into play” …  “The word heritage is better than the word culture.  … it 
puts people off, culture.” … “heritage you can understand … (Cardiff, post 
family adults) 

 

Cultural Destinations 

2.5 Cities are the first places that come to mind when people are asked about 
places with a reputation for culture. This is because that’s where cultural 
buildings and collections of cultural things tend to be, where events are held, 
and where there is enough to do in one place to sustain a break. The 
following quote sums this up: 

 

(cities have a) “Higher concentration.”  “I think that’s it, there’s more of it, 
there’s more choice in those areas. Whereas you go and see Beatrix Potter’s 
birthplace, it’s just in the middle of nowhere.”  “It’s only really one thing to 
see, whereas a city you’re spoilt for choice, aren’t you?”  (Sale, families) 
 

2.6 Rome, Venice, Barcelona, Florence and Paris tend to be the most iconic 
European cities. In the UK, cities with a strong reputation for culture include 
London, Edinburgh, Bath, Chester Stratford and York. No Welsh city was 
mentioned and Wales was rarely mentioned as a cultural country. 

 
 

Cultural Tourists 

2.7 The three types of Cultural Tourist identified in 2003 were clear to see in 
2009 and we believe remain largely unchanged in motivation, behaviour or 
proportion. These three types were defined as: 

 The pure cultural tourist – a small minority 

 The casual cultural tourist – the majority in this research 

 The accidental tourist – minority in this research, but probably a majority 
of the population 
 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 7 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 48



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

 

‘The Cultural Tourist’?
 

Plans ‘specific’ cultural aspects or 
‘Places of Interest’ . These are Pure ‘Cultural’ Tourist

 main but seldom sole motivation 
for destination choice  
 Casual ‘Cultural’ Tourist
Relatively high proportion of time 
is spent doing or seeing cultural 
things, but not a specific plan  

Do not plan. Will happen on Accidental ‘Cultural’ Tourist
 something, or react to weather . 

Relatively little time spent ‘sight’ 
seeing

 

 

 
 

2.8 The three groups are described briefly below, but it may be just as 
appropriate to think in terms of type of trip. 

 

The Pure Cultural Tourist 

2.9 For these people a specific cultural component is the main, but rarely the 
only reason for the choice of destination. The trip may be focused on an 
event – concert, exhibition, festival etc or on a theme/place – heritage, 
gardens, cultural figures etc. Other possible pure cultural trips could relate to 
TV and film settings, although whilst groups discussed these, no members 
had been on a trip like this. 

2.10 It is important to recognise that the majority of people in this category are at 
the popular end – they go to see a pop concert or show and have little 
interest in ‘high culture’, although there are those that are the opposite. 

2.11 These tourists are likely to be an adults-only couple or friends and they tend 
to be older. They are more likely to be taking a short break than a full 
holiday. Good quality food and accommodation tends to be an important 
element but not exclusively so.  

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 8 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 49



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

 

“I’ve just booked for a concert in Cardiff … we fancied going to 
Pembrokeshire for a holiday on the coast down there, and so we’re going to 
combine the two.  Last year we went to the O2 arena for a concert so we 
spent some time in London”   (Sale, post family)  

 

The Casual Cultural Tourist 

2.12 These people tend to spend a relatively large amount of their break or 
holiday time seeing or doing cultural things. 

2.13 They often research thoroughly before they go but make few hard and fast 
plans. They feel strongly that a break is about relaxation and plans suggest 
the opposite. Many expect that almost any destination will have enough for 
them to do to fill their time. 

2.14 For these people culture gives the destination a context and can be a key 
reason people choose to visit. Both cultural and non cultural factors play a 
part and can be of equal importance. For many parties having a range of 
things available is important so that everyone is satisfied.  

2.15 Shopping is important for many and argued by some as being particularly 
important and part of the culture if it has a local flavour.  

2.16 The Casual Cultural Tourist is more likely to be without children or with older 
children.  

 

“I’m going to Amsterdam in 2 weeks and all we’ve done is book flights, 
accommodation and I said I’m not booking anything (else), I just want to go 
and see when I’m there, and see what takes my mood”  (Birmingham pre-
family) 

 

The Accidental Cultural Tourist 

2.17 The defining nature of this group is that they pay little attention to specific 
cultural aspects of a destination before deciding where to go. They may well 
visit places of interest or other attractions if they come across them or if the 
weather forces them indoors. 

2.18 Adults-only groups comprise a significant number of Accidental Cultural 
Tourists including groups of friends just going away to spend time together. 
Families with older children are also strongly represented in this group. 

2.19 The generic cultural backdrop still has an important role in deciding which 
destination  

 

“when we go away, we just want to be away from home.  Not bothered about 
museums, if they’re there we’ll pop in and see them if we’re away.  But the 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 9 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 50



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

main thing is just getting away and disappearing for a couple of days” (Sale, 
post family) 

 

Decision Making 

2.20 Lifestage exerted a strong effect on how people decide on the elements of 
their trip and the main motivation. 

2.21 Not surprisingly family groups behaved very differently to adult-only groups 
and the age of children is a key factor. 

2.22 Adult only groups were split between those who want more active breaks 
and the opportunity to experience new things and those that want less active 
relaxation. Culture has the greatest opportunity to influence those tourists 
looking for a more active break. 

 

The Decision Process 

2.23 Broad boundaries for a trip seem to be set fairly quickly by most people 
through considering who is going, what the trip is for, what they can afford 
and destinations where they might go. 

2.24 A range of other factors are then considered before a final choice is made. 
Amongst these are cultural factors such as setting, things to do, places to 
see and food and drink – the general cultural backdrop. 

2.25 For those on a pure cultural trip, the event, exhibition, festival etc. will be the 
driving force from the outset. 

2.26 This second stage can take some time and is an enjoyable part of the 
process for many people. 

 

Type of Tourist 

2.27 When in a family group, parents want reassurance that a destination has 
things to do cultural and non cultural if they need them – typical of accidental 
cultural tourists. This is particularly true of those with younger children but 
perhaps less so of those with older children who can be more interested in 
cultural things. For mid to late ‘teens however cultural things are not seen as 
‘cool’. 

2.28 Adults of all ages travelling as couples or in larger groups would seem to be 
the largest cultural tourist group. Cultural things to do and places to visit can 
be key to their choice of destination particularly for older, sometimes retired 
empty nesters. They can be especially interested in history and heritage of 
all kinds, crafts, houses, castles and gardens. 

2.29 Young people, pre-family travelling without a partner but often in groups tend 
not to be interested in culture, but merely in having a good time.  

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 10 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 51



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

 

Sources of Information 

2.30 The internet is now the dominant channel for researching trips prior to 
departure. This is a major change compared to 2003. Word of mouth, TV and 
newspapers still have a role in the planning of a trip especially in terms of 
prompting ideas. People of all ages use the internet although those least 
likely to use it are the empty nesters.  

2.31 Leaflets at destinations are very useful and have a key role for casual and 
accidental cultural tourists who comprise a large proportion of visitors to 
Wales. 

2.32 Many people also use the internet to book and pay for accommodation, 
travel and events. They are of all ages but the most prevalent use is amongst 
younger people. Apart from some people who have concerns over security 
and others who are not confident users of the internet, the main reason for 
not booking on line is where people have complicated requirements and / or 
want to ask questions. 

2.33 Everybody uses Google for general web searches, but some accommodation 
provider sites are known and popular. There is some use of ‘tourist board’ 
websites because they provide a good starting point. Independent review 
sites such as TripAdvisor are widely used and appreciated by many. 

 

Views of Wales 

2.34 Respondents in the groups had either visited Wales, or were open to the 
idea of going there. Despite this it was notable how little detail many knew 
about Wales. The 2003 report described Wales as a relatively “empty” 
country in people’s minds – this perception does not seem to have changed 
much.  

2.35 What knowledge there is tends to be limited to places they have been to and 
has a regional bias. People from the north of England, the Midlands and 
Ireland tend to know the north best; southerners tend to know the south or 
mid Wales. The Welsh groups had a broader knowledge, though often with a 
significant bias to the north or south.  

2.36 The Irish are notably warm in their attitudes to Wales as another Celtic 
country, though their knowledge of the country is no better than that of the 
English. Some particularly respected and admired what Wales has achieved 
for its language. 

2.37 Wales is well known for its industrial heritage and history. Its castles and its 
mining heritage are icons. Other strong associations are rugby, choirs the 
daffodil and leeks. 

2.38 Wales is positioned in the mind of tourists as a place for both active and 
relaxing breaks and holidays in the peace of the countryside or maybe by a 
beach. It is definitely not seen as a place for city breaks. Most did not know, 
so could not imagine why they would want to spend time in Cardiff or 
Swansea.  

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 11 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 52



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

2.39 The Millennium Stadium has certainly raised Cardiff’s profile and many of 
those that had been to Cardiff for a break had been because of a sporting 
event or concert. Opinions were divided even amongst these people over its 
attractiveness for city breaks.  

2.40 Typical comments about Wales and some about Scotland are: 

“I’m really struggling to think of things that are there” (Sale, families) 

“It’s more nature that would draw me in rather than (culture) … like I said 
before there aren’t any big cities or towns really that you know. I don’t have 
at the moment any immediate interest to go and see (Wales)” (Wimbledon 
families) 

“I think the countryside is great, and I don’t go there for the culture, I go there 
because ….. I think Wales is almost like Birmingham’s playground in a way, 
you can go mountain biking, beaches, you’ve got the walking”  (Birmingham 
pre-family) 

 “beaches … hills,  black mountains, sheep”  …” it is just peaceful and quiet”   
(Wimbledon families) 

“Wales is … coal and rugby and male voice choirs” (Cardiff, post family) 

“if you go to Spain you know what you’re getting … If you’re going to Wales 
you’d have to look up what you’re going to get”  (Dublin families) 

“I suppose that’s another thing  ... the Scottish have a very strong identity … 
the English in the different regions, because it is so big they have different 
identities, but they’re very identifiable. Whereas in Wales you just wouldn’t 
know what to expect” (Dublin families) 

(Scotland’s culture is) “Whiskey”  “Distilleries”  “The castles” … “Rob Roy ... 
all the history”  “I think the dramatic countryside as well”  (Altrincham, post 
family adults) 

 

Wales as a Cultural Destination 

2.41 When asked about Wales, many people say that Wales is rich in culture. 
They think broadly of its history and heritage, crafts, folklore, festivals and 
song. However people often do not know exactly what there is to do. 

2.42 There is no dominant cultural icon in Wales, awareness of places of interest 
and things to do is diffused amongst several categories: 

 Castles 

 Gardens and historic houses 

 Industrial heritage sites and steam railways 

 Crafts 

2.43 There is little awareness of Welsh museums. 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 12 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 53



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

2.44 Cardiff is universally perceived as the only serious option for a city break. 
Swansea is the only other city that most people knew, but is thought of as 
too small. 

2.45 There is a problem for Cardiff however in that relatively little is known about 
it. Relative to large cities such as London, Manchester, Edinburgh, Liverpool 
etc people feel that there is no compelling reason to visit. 

2.46 Cardiff was best known for the Millennium Stadium, rugby and pop concerts. 
There was only limited knowledge outside of Cardiff residents of any specific 
arts venue, company or their programmes. Cardiff at best is: 

 

“just a city … like any other  ... I don’t know why I would want to go there?” 

 

 And at worst is: 

 

 “a bit rough” 

 

2.47 The Eisteddfod is the Welsh festival with the strongest profile, but few people 
knew much about it or had been. This is in contrast to the broad appeal of 
Edinburgh’s festival. The Eisteddfod is generally seen as something primarily 
for the Welsh. 

2.48 The general perception was that Wales is focused on crafts rather than arts – 
this fits with the view of Wales as a countryside destination. We heard 
nothing about visual arts in Wales. 

2.49 There are a wide variety of cultural figures that people recalled in relation to 
Wales. The most often mentioned and by all ages related to popular culture – 
Tom Jones, Catherine Zeta Jones and Katherine Jenkins. Others mentioned 
include Shirley Bassey, Max Boyce, Harry Secombe, Charlotte Church, 
Cerys Matthews and groups such as Stereophonics and Manic Street 
Preachers.  

2.50 Amongst the younger audiences TV has generated references to Gavin and 
Stacey and Glynn from ‘Big Brother’. 

2.51 Richard Burton and Anthony Hopkins are well known for being Welsh and 
were widely mentioned. Much less well known was Dylan Thomas. Lloyd 
George was the only political figure mentioned.  

 

 

The Welsh Language 

2.52 The language is an intrinsic and strong element of the culture of Wales and 
provides a sense of place. Welsh on signs, menus etc is accepted.  

2.53 The Irish in particular respect the language and say they like to hear it. Views 
are mixed with the English: some feel excluded by the language. 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 13 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 54



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

2.54 The idea of Welsh music in pubs for instance is fine but Wales is not seen to 
have a tradition of this like the Irish or to a lesser extent the Scots. Welsh 
music as personified by choirs is perceived to be more formal and if the 
singing was in Welsh visitors could not join in.  

 

“I think we actually admire them … we have tried to revive Irish here … (but) 
at the end of the day we’re still not speaking it. …. but they have revived it in 
a way that they’re proud to speak it” (Dublin, post family) 

 

Barriers to Visiting Wales 

2.55 The main barrier is a lack of knowledge of what Wales has to offer in terms 
of things to do under the broad Visit Wales definition of culture. 

2.56 Consumers have a much stronger and better defined image of Scotland or of 
the south west of England. Wales is not especially famous for any one thing. 

2.57 Wales is positioned in the mind of tourists as a place for both active and 
relaxing breaks and holidays in the peace of the countryside or maybe by a 
beach. This tends to be at odds with large parts of the cultural agenda. 

2.58 Wales is perceived to have a slower pace of life and is slightly old-fashioned. 
This is a negative in the context of city breaks and cities as destinations for 
performing arts, galleries and museums. Neither Cardiff nor Swansea are 
seen as being large enough to sustain a city break or to have the “buzz” that 
younger people gravitate to. 

2.59 In the minds of some the Welsh are not perceived to be friendly, especially in 
relation to some Welsh speaking areas. 

 

Implications and Recommendations 

2.60 The wide definition of cultural tourism used by Visit Wales is in tune with the 
way that the public thinks and makes choices between destinations. 
However the public think in terms of a range of things to do and see, not in 
terms of cultural activities. 

2.61 The term cultural tourism does not seem to be helpful from a marketing 
perspective. Amongst the public, the term cultural tourism appeals to only a 
very small minority and is typically described as ‘high’ culture. The 
alternative, much broader, Visit Wales definition is too wide to help define 
market segments. 

2.62 The public tend to think of cultural destinations as cities rather than countries 
and Cardiff is not seen as a cultural destination. As a consequence, the 
concept of promoting Wales as a cultural destination is an inappropriate 
objective at present.  

2.63 Awareness of specific things to do in Wales is a weakness and appears to be 
no better than it was in the 2003 research even amongst those that have 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 14 of 15  Tudalen y pecyn 55



Executive Summary 
Cultural Tourism Research 2009 

 

Strategic Marketing 
April 2009 

Page 15 of 15  

visited Wales. The question needs to be asked whether there is a real 
weakness compared to competitor regions or whether this is a perception. 

2.64 Wales’ promotional activities should reflect the way that the public thinks and 
focus strongly on things to do and see. The public tends to look for things to 
do and see within a more concentrated area than Wales as a whole. This 
suggests that the promotional emphasis should be on smaller recognisable 
areas. City breaks for example could be considered a prime example of 
focusing on a small area. 

2.65 Within these areas promotion must encompass a range of things to do and 
see, so that the diverse interests of individuals and groups are catered for. 
This must include all types of shopping. Accommodation and food, catering 
for a variety of tastes and budgets are always an important element in the 
mix. Wales’ target customer is the independent traveller and by definition 
they are not looking for packaged holidays but suggested ‘things to do’ 
itineraries would be valuable. 

2.66 Cardiff is not perceived as a city break destination but is seen as the only 
viable contender in Wales. Sporting events and rock concerts have 
significantly raised awareness of the city since 2003, yet most people do not 
feel that there is any particular reason outside of an event to visit the city.  

2.67 A key activity for Cardiff and other areas would therefore seem to be 
improving the awareness of things to do with existing visitors when they are 
in an area through various forms of ‘point of sale’ material or pre-visit 
information. Co-ordinated promotional activities between event organisers 
and other tourism operators should be a priority.  

2.68 Cardiff needs to create and promote an identity that is attractive and different 
from its much larger and well established competitors. The ‘city region’ 
concept may have a broader appeal than just Cardiff. 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

CERDD CYMRU DIGITAL MUSIC RESOURCE  
FOR THE TOURISM INDUSTRY 

 
 

TECHNICAL AND COMMERCIAL FEASIBILITY REPORT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for Visit Wales Digital Project 
 
 

By Angharad Wynne 
Angharad Wynne Marketing and Communications 

 
 
 
 

On behalf of 

The Arts Council of Wales 
 
 
 
 

2 February 2012 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



Report produced by Angharad Wynne, Angharad Wynne Marketing & Communications, 
07786256722 / Angharad@angharadwynne.com 

2 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.01 There is currently no central point for accessing information about Wales’s 

music scene, either for visitors or nationals. Information is scattered across a 
broad range of non-geographically specific, genre related sites. It is virtually 
impossible to gain a snapshot of what music events and activities are 
available within a region at any given time, and absolutely impossible for the 
visitor with little or no prior knowledge to ‘access’ Wales’s music scene.   
After researching the field, we conclude that there is a clear need that we can 
evidence, for a central resource that captures information about and 
promotes the music of Wales.  

 
1.02 The proposed digital service would be a significant first step in capitalizing on 

a strong potential market for music tourism, and delivering added value to 
visitors looking to explore Wales’ music culture as a broader aspect of their 
visit.  We are currently under achieving in comparison with other comparable 
UK and European regions.  Developing resource to help drive this 
engagement is likely to be one of the most effective and efficient means for 
increasing levels of visitor spending on live music entertainment and related 
retail. It will also uplift spend on food and drink as secondary spending in 
entertainment venues.  

 
1.03 Visitor numbers to Wales have been down by 3.5% per annum in the past 5 

years. We are losing market share. Additionally, the UK as a whole has 
dropped out of the top 10 country brands for tourism. In part, this is a result 
in a trend shift away from pageantry and heritage. Future Brand’s “National 
Branding Rankings” states that the UK should invest less on promoting 
heraldry and pageantry and heritage and spend more promoting 
contemporary culture. Interestingly, our European neighbours are predicting 
a growth of up to 6% per annum in the coming years. 

 
1.04 Less than 6% of total visitor spending in the UK goes on entertainment. This 

appears low and offers potential for growth. A key to achieving this is to 
connect visitors with attractive and appropriate music entertainment and 
inform them about it effectively. This is essentially what this proposed Cerdd 
Cymru: Music Wales Music resource aims to address, by gathering and 
intelligently presenting information to visitors about music events and 
activities in Wales. This will act either as a catalyst to visit, or provide an 
important cultural context and sense of place to their visit. Consequently, the 
project aims to both stimulate the visitor market and make a clear statement 
about Wales’s strength as a musical nation, and stimulate the music economy 
in Wales. 

 
1.05 The national organization UK Music is concentrating on looking at 'twinning' 

festivals to promote key UK events overseas. Their aim is to advertise the UK 
as a music destination and recognise that there are people who build their 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



Report produced by Angharad Wynne, Angharad Wynne Marketing & Communications, 
07786256722 / Angharad@angharadwynne.com 

3 

holidays around key music events and in turn offer Visit Britain unique 
content.  This resource aims to support that strategy by providing a gateway 
for music experiences in Wales, and so raise Wales’s profile within the UK 
and Europe as a Music destination.  

 
1.06 Families and Older Independents are the markets currently in growth in 

Wales, whilst Pre-nesters are in decline. It is important that Wales promotes 
a music offer for these three sub sectors, delivering interest and activity that 
will both satisfy and encourage the market segments in growth whilst also 
attracting increased visitation, and helping to stem the decline in visits from 
Pre-nesters.  

 
1.07 Visit Wales continues to target Independent Explorers. We know much about 

their attitudes towards travel and experience. This project aims to support 
their desires to discover new, authentic cultural experiences, which provide 
important and valued sense of place context to their visit. 

 
1.08 With this resource, we aim to target both music tourists who are driven to 

travel based on the offered music experience and those for whom music 
forms a soundscape for their understanding of, and engagement with a place.  

 
1.09 Musicians are already involved in submitting their music, information and 

gigs to a number of web based databases.  One of the core concepts of this 
proposed resource is to gather available information about music, music 
making and musicians in Wales, past and present and the musical culture of 
Wales into one place, using in the main, existing editorial, gig and events 
listings databases. Thus we will make it easy for visitors in particular - and 
other domestic users - to gather information about our music scene, learn 
more about the music culture and consume Welsh music.  

 
1.10 The BBC, as a firm supporter of the music sector in Wales, and a leading 

disseminator of news and information in both languages about the scene in 
Wales, is keen to avoid unnecessary duplication of effort and any associated 
waste of public funds. It is therefore interested in working with the new 
portal to agree respective roles and areas of activity and, where possible, to 
share resources. 

 
1.11 Our research into booking patterns clearly demonstrates that a website is the 

core tool for communicating and gathering this information. However, other 
more innovative digital applications will be useful for key markets within the 
‘independent explorer’ group. 

 
1.12 This resource cannot be developed in isolation, that is, it requires a wrap 

around of a more considered and strategic approach to promoting Wales as a 
musical nation. It also requires  work to develop the music sector’s 
understanding of how to provide experiences for the visitor market, and 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



Report produced by Angharad Wynne, Angharad Wynne Marketing & Communications, 
07786256722 / Angharad@angharadwynne.com 

4 

likewise, a profile raising campaign amongst tourism business operators to 
enable them to better promote and showcase Welsh music. 

 
1.13 This process of gathering and presenting music information will inevitably 

highlight key ‘iconic’ events that should prove very attractive to the visitor 
market. Such events are described as those in which an ‘iconic’ or high profile 
Welsh artists performs within an iconic or culturally meaningful setting that 
provides both a high profile event and great sense of place. They might also 
be events that are simply ‘quintessentially Welsh’, and offer the visitor an 
insight into our music heritage and culture. These might be one off events or 
Festivals and Eisteddfodau. While this project does not aim to create these, it 
will identify them and help to raise their profile and promote them to the 
visitor market. 

 
1.14 Wales is a musical nation, however we’ve been shy of shouting about it for 

too long; too worried that it relates too closely to our choral singing tradition. 
Wales has a claim to being a musical nation precisely for the wealth of 
ancient, folk [roots], choral, jazz, classical, and vibrant contemporary music 
that is produced here (amongst many other genres). Whatever it is, the music 
that is produced here is somehow inspired by Wales and can support the 
sense of place we provide for visitors. This project is well placed to enhance 
the music economy by bringing it to a visitor market, which is actively looking 
for our music story. With Cardiff set to host WOMEX in 2013, there has been 
no better time to raise the profile of Welsh music, and to get our house in 
order. 

 
 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



Cover
In Wales not everything happens in a field . . .

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 1

T
udalen y pecyn 61



hay
. . . but a lot that’s amazing does

Hay Festival

In 2012 Hay celebrates 25 years of 
writing, reading, politics, music, comedy, 
debate, learning, entertainment . . . 

photo: Finn Beales

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 2

T
udalen y pecyn 62



Kidwelly Castle

In 2011 Cadw, the  historical 
environment service for Wales,
hosted Iron at Kidwelly Castle.
For Cadw’s current programme 
visit www.cadw.wales.gov.uk

© Cadw

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 4

T
udalen y pecyn 63



Eisteddfod maes, Wrexham
July 30th - August 6th 2011

5  miles of toilet paper used during the Eisteddfod week
3 miles of water pipes criss-crossing the Field . . . Europe's
largest cultural festival, and the largest celebration of
Welsh language and culture to be found anywhere.

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 6

T
udalen y pecyn 64



Urdd

Urdd, Felindre Swansea

Spotting the next Bryn Terfel? 

The Urdd Eisteddfod celebrates 
the creativity of young people

© Urdd

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 8

T
udalen y pecyn 65



Pontardawe Recreational Ground

NoFit State Circus repeats 
Parklife at Pontardawe 
7th-14th August 2011.

If you can’t catch them there, 
catch them in Taunton and

Dorchester. www.nofit.com

photo: Mark Robson

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 10

T
udalen y pecyn 66



The Vetch Field, Swansea

Adain Avion is Marc Rees’ Artists taking the Lead
project for the Cultural Olympiad. In Summer 2012

it nests in Swansea, Ebbw Vale and Colwyn Bay.
There are plans for the Vetch, watch this space.

www.adainavion.org

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 12

T
udalen y pecyn 67



photo: Mark TurnerGreen Man Festival, Usk

A fantastic, eclectic, energetic and stunning line up.
The music and the community really does make it
something totally different on the festival circuit!
Bethan Elfyn 

“
”

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 14

T
udalen y pecyn 68



photo:Toby Farrow
Epynt

Congratulations to Kaite O’Reilly on winning the 
Ted Hughes Award for her script for the Persians. 
After an inspiring first year, National Theatre Wales’ new
programme is out now www.nationaltheatrewales.org

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 16

T
udalen y pecyn 69



Llangollen

Llangollen International Musicial Eisteddfod
founded in 1947 is the United Nations of music.

Llangollen

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 18

T
udalen y pecyn 70



David Nash, Ash Dome, Cae’n-y-Coed, North Wales
A scultpure of 22 ash trees planted, growing and tended
1977 to the present - “a space for the 21Century”

David Nash’ exhibition at
Mostyn, Llandudno 

24th Sept - 12th Nov 2011

David Nash, Red Cuts, 2010, Yew

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 20

T
udalen y pecyn 71



National Eisteddfod of Wales 2012 maes, Llandow Empty fields photographed by Anthony Stokes

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 22

T
udalen y pecyn 72



In Wales not everything happens in a field  . . . there’s always the great indoors . . . 

For Wales Millennium Centre Summer/Autumn programme visit www.wmc.org.uk
llun/ photo: Phil Boorman

Outdoor festival leaflet A6:Layout 1  17/05/2011  16:50  Page 24

T
udalen y pecyn 73



National Assembly for Wales 

Enterprise and Business Committee 

Inquiry into Tourism 

Evidence from Wales Environment Link – TOU 15 
 

 
 

27 Heol y Wig / 27 Pier Street, Aberystwyth, SY23 2LN    : 01970 611621  : enquiry@waleslink.org 

Cadeirydd / Chair:  Bill Upham            Cyfarwyddwraig / Director:  Susan Evans           www.waleslink.org 

 
 

Inquiry into Tourism 
 

May 2014 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The Wales Visitor Survey 2013 (GB Staying Visitors) shows that the natural and historic 
environment (the countryside and landscape canvas of Wales) is the major attraction for 
visitors to Wales. The top three motivations for visits to Wales were: 

 To enjoy the landscape / countryside / beach (69%) 

 To visit places / historical sites / specific attractions / sightseeing (58%) 

 To take part in outdoor activities (35%) 

The same top three motivations also attracted day visitors to Wales, though with attractions / 
historical sites the top motivation, followed by the landscape / countryside / beach and thirdly, 
outdoor activities. These findings amply demonstrate the crucial role and importance of Wales‟ 
landscapes and the cultural, historic and natural assets they contain, and the inextricable link 
between the quality of the natural and historic environment and the success of tourism in 
Wales. In fact the quality of the natural environment was one of the top two reasons for visitor 
satisfaction with their trip to Wales according to this survey. This has obvious implications for its 
importance to the Welsh economy. 

2 Making the most of Wales’ cultural, historical and natural assets 
 

2.1 Visit Wales‟ marketing strongly features the cultural, historical and natural assets of Wales. In 
addition to these core attributes, we welcome the promotion of wildlife tourism by Visit Wales to 
complement their traditional focus on seaside holidays, historical sites and city-based 
attractions. Tourism which is based on the environmental qualities of Wales, including the 
diversity of its landscape and wildlife, when undertaken in a responsible and sustainable 
manner is a significant and powerful stimulus to the tourism industry, bringing economic 
benefits for rural and coastal areas that are distant from the main economic centres of North 
and South Wales. 
 

2.2 Specific examples of local economic benefits from wildlife tourism include: 

 A RSPB study of the impact of a number of their reserves on local employment found that 
South Stack Nature Reserve on Anglesey attracted tourist spend of around £570,000 to the 
local area, supporting 12.9 FTE jobs in 2009. South Stack is a popular tourist destination, 
especially in spring and summer when more than 7,000 seabirds breed on the cliffs of the 
reserve, and the report found that 6.4 FTE jobs were specifically related to seabird tourism 

Tudalen y pecyn 74

Eitem 4

http://www.assemblywales.org/index.htm
http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=228
http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=118&RPID=1003639010&cp=yes
mailto:enquiry@waleslink.org
http://www.waleslink.org/


(a figure that is likely to have increased following development of new visitor facilities at the 
reserve after 2009).1  

 Visitor numbers to Nant y Arian before kite feeding (1999) were approximately 30,000 per 
year. Visitor numbers after 5 years of feeding project (2004) were approximately 110,000 
per year (this was before the opening of the new centre and bike trails). 

 Dyfi Osprey project attracts 40,000 visitors per year, bring up to £500,000 to the local 
economy per year and generates over 1.7m unique visits from 50 countries to their live 
streaming of nesting ospreys.  

 A project commissioned by Welsh Government‟s Sustainable Development Fund and Port 
of Milford Haven found that the 3rd highest value activity within the St David‟s area, after 
beach activities and walking, was wildlife boat trips, valued at £9.7m per annum of 
expenditure and £4.6m respectively per annum of GVA (200,000 activity days).2 

2.3 An interesting study by Land Use Consultants (2004) identified, analysed and mapped existing 
data on recreational activities, and reviewed existing promotional material and guidance on 
recreational activities in relation to their compatibility with Marine Protected Areas. The audit 
identified “hotspots” of activities clearly overlap with nature conservation and landscape 
designations, highlighting the draw of these areas for tourist activities. 

  
2.4 The importance of Wales‟s finest landscapes, the three Welsh National Parks and five AONBs, 

for tourism is indisputable. Recently published research found that the economies of the three 
National Parks account for £557m of Gross Value Added (GVA), representing 1.2% of the 
Welsh economy. Also, public spending on Wales‟ National Parks costs less than £5 per person 
per year, representing excellent economic value.3 In Wales 28 million walking related trips are 
made each year resulting in a £632 million direct spend by walkers.4 This accounts for 16% of 
the total tourism in Wales before accounting for the success of the Welsh Coast Path, which in 
itself attracted an estimated 2.82 million visitors between September 2012 and September 
2013, resulting in an estimated contribution of £32 million to the Welsh economy.5 The 
combination of a diversity of high quality and beautiful landscapes, seascapes, historical 
attractions and opportunities for wildlife spotting around the Welsh coast are what makes the 
Wales Coastal Path so attractive to visitors.  

 
2.5 Wales‟ natural assets also attract activities which rely directly on the environment, such as 

angling. Recreational angling visits to Wales‟s coasts and inland waterways contribute £150m 
to the Welsh economy6. Around 60,000 licences are bought in Wales each year generating 
approximately £1.25 million7 which represents the main source of income for fisheries projects.  

 
2.6 Wales‟ cultural and historic assets are an important draw for visitors to Wales. Visit Britain 

markets Wales as the best place to see impressive castles (in 2009/10 Carnaervon castle 
alone took nearly £900,000 from admission fees and retail sales), but the heritage offering of 
Wales is far more diverse than this, and there is perhaps some work to do to present a wider 
and more inclusive interpretation of Welsh heritage in marketing materials outside Wales. For 
example, the Blaenavon World Heritage Site has increased visitor numbers to the area by 
100% in five years, and the economic impact of the Big Pit museum alone is £4.93 million in 
terms of visitor spend, which supports 140 FTE jobs and contributes around £3.25 million in 
respect of GVA.8 

 
2.7 The Programme for Government‟s aims and indicators of success in relation to tourism are 

rather narrowly focused on the historic built environment and measurements of visits to Cadw 

                                                 
1
 Natural Foundations – Conservation and Local Employment in the UK. RSPB 2011. 

http://www.rspb.org.uk/Images/naturalfoundations_tcm9-291148.pdf 
2
 Marine Planning Consultants Limited (2013), Wales Activity Mapping: Economic Valuation of Marine 

Recreation Activity 
3
 http://npw.nationalparks.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/389727/Valuing-Wales-National-Parks-.pdf 

4
 Welsh Economy Research Unit, Cardiff University (2011) The Economic Impact of Walking and Hill Walking in 

Wales.   
5
 NRW (2013) The Economic Impact of Wales Coast Path Visitor Spending on Wales 

6
 http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/apply-buy-report/apply-buy-grid/fishing/?lang=en#.U2txt_ldUX9 

7
 http://www.fishing.visitwales.com/en/content/cms/news/rod_licences/ 

8
 http://cadw.wales.gov.uk/docs/cadw/publications/ValuingWelshHistoricEnvironment_EN.pdf Tudalen y pecyn 75

http://www.rspb.org.uk/Images/naturalfoundations_tcm9-291148.pdf


sites. It does not appear to utilise wider economic data on tourism relating to the landscape, 
cultural, historic and natural assets of Wales, for example relating to outdoor activity tourism 
such as walking, cycling, climbing and water sports, or consideration of the income from visits 
to National Parks, AONBs and wildlife sites. Without a holistic understanding and recognition of 
the total direct and indirect income generated by all aspects of the natural and historic 
environment of Wales, it is difficult to know if Wales is making the most of all of its cultural, 
historic and natural assets, and ensuring that they are adequately resourced, protected and 
enhanced so that they continue to be attractive for visitors and continue to provide enjoyment 
and inspiration for the people of Wales.  

 
3 Maximising the value of the tourism market 
 
3.1 WEL believes that maximising the value of the tourist market is not just about effective 

marketing, but about carefully managing and enhancing the cultural, historic and natural assets 
of Wales, upon which tourism ultimately depends, so that they continue to attract visitors into 
the future. This requires positive leadership, careful planning and action to ensure an integrated 
approach, so that tourism is developed in a responsible, positive and sensitive manner and 
does not damage or degrade the assets it relies upon. It also requires the impact of wider 
economic activity upon these assets to be carefully managed. This approach is consistent with 
the Welsh Government‟s duty to promote Sustainable Development. 

 
3.2 With regard to maritime and coastal tourism, an integrated approach to the use of the marine 

area will help to avoid conflicts over space. The current development of the Wales National 
Marine Plan (WNMP), due to be completed by the end of 2015, provides an opportunity for 
Welsh Government to identify the best areas in Wales to strategically expand coastal and 
marine-related tourism. The WNMP, if fit for purpose, will contribute towards the sustainable 
and holistic development of tourism-related activities in Welsh waters by creating a framework 
for consistent decision making using best available evidence. A marine plan that takes all 
marine activities into account, identifying the link between coastal and maritime activities, and 
which is developed using the ecosystem approach, should allow greater certainty for Welsh 
Government and the tourism industry on where to deliver sustainable growth of this sector. 

 
3.3 The tourist infrastructure inland should be developed using an integrated approach. The „area-

based approach‟ proposed by Welsh Government as part of the Environment (Wales) Bill could 
be a valuable tool in achieving this ambition provided it follows the principles of an ecosystem 
approach. Just as the protection and regeneration of our historic buildings and scheduled 
monuments are crucial to the Welsh tourism industry, so is the protection of Welsh wildlife, 
protected landscapes and the wider countryside. As the economic benefits of the Wales 
Coastal Path have demonstrated, access to the natural and historic environment is also an 
important consideration. No matter how effective the marketing campaign, tourists will not 
continue to visit Wales if its natural and historic assets are degraded or inaccessible. As such, 
Visit Wales should be provided with a funding pot which can be used to protect and enhance 
the cultural, historic and natural assets which the tourist sector relies on. 

 
3.4 Within the UK, Scotland is currently the top wildlife tourism destination, with a relatively well-

developed and organised wildlife tourism industry attracting more overnight and long break 
visitors and a higher proportion of international visitors. Scotland‟s wildlife tour operators are 
highly organised, presenting a fairly cohesive face in the form of the Wild Scotland9 website. 
There does not appear to be an equivalent website for companies operating in Wales. Another 
example is the Beaver Tourism Toolkit developed by the Heart of Argyll Tourism Alliance and 
Scottish Beaver Trial which has been developed for tourism operators (hotels, businesses, 
rangers etc).10 Wildlife Trusts Wales and NRW are looking to reintroduce beavers to Wales. 
Among the many potential benefits of a beaver reintroduction, they are an attraction for wildlife 
tourism. According to a study carried out by Wildlife Conservation Research Unit (University of 
Oxford), a beaver release would bring between £¾ million and £2 million to the local economy. 
WEL believes that there is scope for a significant increase in Welsh wildlife tourism, and that 

                                                 
9
 http://www.wild-scotland.org.uk/ 

10
 http://www.scottishbeavers.org.uk/about-the-trial/beaver-tourism-toolkit/ Tudalen y pecyn 76



this would have benefits for both the economy and environment of Wales if done in an 
environmentally sensitive and sustainable manner.   

 
3.5 The proposals in the recent consultation, Positive Planning, suggest that the Planning Reform 

Bill may be used to strip Welsh National Park Authorities of their planning powers. WEL 
believes that such a decision would be highly detrimental to the special nature of these areas, 
which would in turn be detrimental to tourism. By using their planning responsibilities to ensure 
successful delivery of the statutory purposes of National Parks, NPAs have delivered significant 
benefits to Wales, a conclusion which is reinforced by the Williams Commission review into the 
delivery of public services in Wales. The local economy in Wales‟s National Parks relies heavily 
on tourism and many visitors are specifically attracted to these areas because of their unspoilt 
qualities and the natural beauty of the landscape. The high quality environment in these areas 
also contributes to a wide range of other objectives by acting as a source of health, well-being 
and spiritual inspiration. The way in which the NPAs have taken account of their statutory 
purposes in exercising their planning responsibilities has ensured that these protected 
landscapes have not been compromised by insensitive exploitation and change, unsympathetic 
land use or irresponsible development. 

 
4 Recommendations 
 
4.1 If the Welsh tourist market is to expand and develop, investment is needed on several fronts: 

 Development of new or under-developed sectors, such as nature-based and wildlife 
tourism, which requires investment in the whole tourist experience to agreed quality 
standards, including visitor facilities, staff, communications and marketing, and accessibility, 
including sustainable transport access. Such development is crucial to the economic 
sustainability of new projects and attractions. The European Charter for Sustainable 
Tourism provides an excellent example of the approach which should be promoted11 not 
just in Protected Landscapes but in general across Wales.  

 Enhanced investment in established tourism sectors, such as historic sites and attractions, 
outdoor sports and recreation, National Parks, AONBs and other protected landscapes and 
seascapes, recognising that this will bring multiple added value outcomes for the 
environment, the economy and social wellbeing of Welsh people. 

 Investment in the environment of Wales, providing major and much needed direct and 
indirect job creation opportunities for the leisure services and land management 
employment sectors. 

 Investment in the protection and enhancement of the underlying natural and historic 
environment of Wales to ensure that the cultural, historic and natural assets that both 
residents of Wales, UK and International tourists value so much are sustained into the 
future as a central component of the Welsh Government‟s intergenerational sustainability 
commitment. 

 
Wales Environment Link (WEL) is a network of environmental, countryside and heritage Non-
Governmental Organisations in Wales, most of whom have an all-Wales remit. WEL is officially 
designated the intermediary body between the government and the environmental NGO sector in 
Wales. Its vision is to increase the effectiveness of the environmental sector in its ability to protect 
and improve the environment through facilitating and articulating the voice of the sector.   

 
The following WEL members support this document: 

                                                 
11

 http://www.europarc.org/what-we-do/european-charter-for    Tudalen y pecyn 77

http://www.europarc.org/what-we-do/european-charter-for


Amphibian and Reptile Conservation 

British Mountaineering Council 

Campaign for National Parks 

Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales 

Marine Conservation Society 

Plantlife Cymru 

Ramblers Cymru 

RSPB Cymru 

Salmon & Trout Association 

Wildlife Trusts Wales 

WWF Cymru 

Wye and Usk Foundation 

YHA 

Ymddiriedolaeth Genedlaethol /  

National Trust 

Wales Environment Link unites voluntary bodies whose primary aims include the conservation, protection or quiet enjoyment of landscape, wildlife or amenity in Wales 
Mae Cyswllt Amgylchedd Cymru yn uno cyrff gwirfoddol sydd â‟u hamcanion pennaf yn cynnwys cadwraeth, gwarchodaeth neu fwynhad tawel o dirlun, bywyd gwyllt ac amwynder yng Nghymru 

Reg. Charity No: 1022675    Rhif Elusen Gofrestredig: 1022675 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



 

 

Bae Caerdydd 

Cardiff Bay 

CF99 1NA 

Clerc/Clerk: Dr Siân Phipps, Ffôn /Tel: 029 2089 8582        

E-bost /Email:enterprise.committee@wales.gov.uk     

 

 

Y Pwyllgor Menter a Busnes 

Enterprise and Business Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

Dear Edwina 

 

Inquiry into Tourism 

 

As you are aware, the Enterprise and Business Committee is currently 

undertaking an inquiry into tourism. 

 

At its first evidence session, two issues arose that Members asked me to 

raise with you prior to your attendance at Committee. 

 

The first relates to the Visit Britain website, although I understand that this 

been addressed since our meeting.  Members were concerned that when you 

typed “Visit Britain” into Google, the Google summary described it as “Official 

UK tourism and places to visit: England, Scotland and Britain”. There was no 

mention of Wales and the Committee felt this was potentially detrimental to 

tourism in Wales. 

 

The second issue relates to the brand evaluation exercise commissioned 

from Mike Ashton Associates by the Welsh Government in 2012. A number 

of respondents have told us that the outcome of this exercise is yet to be 

made publicly available.  The Committee would be grateful if you could 

provide us with the results of this exercise. 

 

Many thanks 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

 

William Graham 

Chair, Enterprise and Business Committee 

Edwina Hart AM 

Minister for Economy, Science and Transport  

Welsh Government 

 

17 June 2014 

Tudalen y pecyn 79

Eitem 5



Edwina Hart MBE CStJ AC / AM 
Gweinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth 
Minister for Economy, Science and Transport  
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

Correspondence.edwina.Hart@Wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper 

 
 
Eich cyf/Your ref  
Ein cyf/Our ref  

 
William Graham AM 
Chairman 
Enterprise & Business Committee 
 

 

 
 
Dear William 
 
As Chairman of the Enterprise & Business Committee, I thought you might be 
interested in knowing about a recent exchange of correspondence I have had 
with the Minister for Tourism at DCMS and the Minister for Skills at BIS.  
 
We were advised in an incorrectly addressed letter of 30th May of the intention 
of the UK Government to establish a Tourism Industry Council drawn from 
“senior industry leaders”  and inviting representatives of the National Tourism 
Boards to attend.  The Council was formally announced on June 5th.  Whilst I 
am delighted that Westminster is according the same importance to tourism 
that we in the Welsh Government have been doing for some years now, it is 
surprising to say the least that we were given so little notice or opportunity to 
contribute to developing plans, especially as the remit of the new Council will 
cover a number of devolved areas including developing skills and enterprise in 
the sector.  I made these points in my reply.   
 
DCMS’s position now is that the initiative is confined to England.  My Scottish 
counterpart and I are intending to send an observer from our respective 
tourism organisations to the first meetings in order to share best practice: we 
are still concerned to make sure that this development, which ignores our own 
separate skills and employment agendas, does not confuse or distract key 
industry stakeholders and potential private sector partners. 
 

        17 June 2014 

Tudalen y pecyn 80

mailto:Correspondence.edwina.Hart@Wales.gsi.gov.uk


On another subject, I gather that the Enterprise Committee received evidence 
last week from a number of tourism specialists, including Professor Annette 
Pritchard, who drew attention to current deficiencies in the way that Visit 
Britain’s website features Wales. 
 
As it happens, my officials have been contributing over the last month to a 
review being conducted by Visit Britain of its digital policy and the Chairman of 
my Tourism Advisory Board is participating in a Visit Britain Board discussion 
today on the review’s results.  I am glad to report that the Google “tag-line” 
description of Visit Britain has already been corrected to name Wales, whilst 
issues regarding the featuring of Welsh products more prominently are being 

actively addressed. 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



1 
 

International visits to Wales 2008-13: a comparison across Wales’ top 6 inbound markets 

 

VISITS – INTERNATIONAL INBOUND TO WALES 

Total visits: Ireland and elsewhere compared 

Market 

Total visits to Wales (000s) % change 
2008-13 

% change 
2009-13 2012-13 YoY % change 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

TOTAL 1065 991 890 879 854 884 -17 -11 4 

IRELAND 230 214 171 148 144 132 -43 -38 -8 

ELSEWHERE (TOTAL -
IRELAND) 835 777 719 731 710 753 -10 -3 6 

 

Top 6 inbound markets for visits in 2013 and trends in these markets 2008-2013 

Market 

Total visits to Wales (000s) 2008-13 % 
change 

2009-13 % 
change 2012-13 YoY % change 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Ireland 230 214 171 148 144 132 -43 -38 -8 

Germany 92 92 85 86 60 107 17 17 80 

USA 75 85 93 76 76 93 25 10 23 

France  139 116 82 111 130 81 -42 -30 -38 

Australia 68 64 57 62 63 67 -1 5 5 

Netherlands 64 53 69 57 50 63 -2 19 26 

These six countries made up 61% of all inbound visits to Wales in 2013 

  

T
udalen y pecyn 82



2 
 

NOMINAL SPEND – INTERNATIONAL INBOUND TO WALES 

Total nominal spend: Ireland and elsewhere compared 

Market 

Total spend (£m) % change 
2008-13 

2009-13 % 
change 2012-13 YoY % change 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

TOTAL 314 332 333 328 346 353 13 6 2 

IRELAND 50 63 38 33 32 25 -49 -60 -21 

ELSEWHERE (TOTAL -
IRELAND) 264 269 295 295 314 328 24 22 4 

 

Top 6 inbound markets for nominal spend in 2013 and trends in these markets 2008-2013 

Market 

Total spend (£m) % change 
2008-13 

2009-13 % 
change 2012-13 YoY % change 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Germany 29 37 28 28 22 49 69 32 124 

USA 19 40 33 37 30 47 145 16 55 

Australia 29 17 33 27 31 29 0 70 -6 

Ireland 50 63 38 33 32 25 -49 -60 -21 

France 38 27 34 36 33 23 -40 -15 -30 

Spain 12 14 19 8 16 15 25 5 -7 

These six countries made up 53% of all inbound spend in Wales in 2013 

 

Source: International Passenger Survey 

http://www.visitbritain.org/insightsandstatistics/inboundvisitorstatistics/regions/  

 

T
udalen y pecyn 83

http://www.visitbritain.org/insightsandstatistics/inboundvisitorstatistics/regions/


THURSDAY 21ST NOVEMBER 2013 

WELSH TOURISM A POWERHOUSE FOR GROWTH AND JOBS 

 Currently worth £6.9bn  and growing to £13.2bn by 2025 - 15% of Welsh GDP  

 Set to grow 48.5 % in real terms by 2025 – faster than manufacturing, construction and retail 

 In 2013 Tourism supported 206,000 jobs across Wales (14.9% of total employment), growing to 

236,000 in 2025 

 Inbound tourism the driving force of growth 

Tourism’s central role in creating new jobs across Wales has been underlined in a report from Deloitte, ‘Tourism: 

jobs and growth’, commissioned by VisitBritain.   

Since 2010 tourism has been the fastest growing sector in the UK in employment terms, responsible for one-third 

of the net increase in UK jobs between 2010 and 2012. Recent employment growth in the sector has been 

‘stellar’ over this period says the report – more than four times the rate of manufacturing.  

The report forecasts that the Welsh tourism economy will be worth around £6.9 billion this year (2013), 

equivalent to 13.9% of the Wales’s GDP.  It supports over 206,000 jobs, which is 14.9% of all jobs. The sector is 

predicted to grow by 48.5% in real terms through to 2025 - much faster than sectors such as manufacturing, 

construction and retail.  

Wales could have a tourism industry worth over £13.2 billion by 2025 – equivalent to 15% of Welsh GDP and 

supporting almost 236,000 jobs, which is 16.6% of the total employment. Tourism jobs are distributed right 

across the Wales , for while urban areas such Cardiff have the highest number of jobs in tourism, the relative 

level of tourism-related jobs tends to be higher in the rural and coastal areas of Wales . During this period of job 

creation, productivity in the tourism sector is also expected to increase by 2% per annum. 

Tourism’s impact is amplified through the economy, so benefits are much wider than just the direct spending of 

tourists. Deloitte estimates the tourism GVA multiplier to be 2.2 – meaning that for every £1000 generated in 

direct tourism GVA there is a further £1200 that is secured elsewhere in the economy through the supply chain1. 

Inbound tourism across UK and Wales 

Inbound tourism will continue to be the fastest growing tourism sector, with spend by international visitors 

forecast to grow by over 6% a year. The value of inbound tourism is forecast to grow from around over £21bn in 

2013 to £57bn by 2025, with the UK seeing an international tourism balance of payments surplus within a 

decade - almost forty years since the UK last reported a surplus. 

If Britain were to become as successful as its European competitors in the new emerging growth markets for 

tourism (such as China) it could increase the value of inbound tourism by an additional £12bn by 2025 – an 

increase to £69bn or over 20% on the base forecast. 

The Welsh inbound market is set to grow from £0.6bn in 2013 to £1.6bn by 2025 

Christopher Rodrigues, VisitBritain Chairman said: “Tourism has become a bedrock of the UK economy – 

generating a third of the UK’s new jobs between 2010 and 2012 - and still has the ability to grow at levels that will 

lead other industries out of the economic slowdown. 

“Deloitte’s report suggests that by 2025 Wales could have an industry worth over £13.2 billion by 2025 (48.5% 

more in real terms than in 2013), supporting 236,000 jobs – across the country and at all skill levels. 

Tudalen y pecyn 84



“Inbound tourism is already one of Britain’s top export industries and will continue to be the fastest growing 

sector of the industry, with spend by international visitors forecast to grow by over 6% a year.  

“Our record performance since the Olympics bodes well for the future but to achieve the industry’s full potential 

we need to continue to raise our game, marry policy and marketing and promote Britain even more aggressively 

overseas.” 

 

ENDS 

 

1. Figure arrived at by Regression analysis and the marginal expenditure impact approach. Every 1% rise in 

real spending is associated with a 0.89% rise in FTE. Tourism’s impact is amplified through the economy 

from the direct spending levels with the tourism GVA multiplier estimated to be 2.2 – meaning that for every 

£1 generated in direct tourism GVA there is a further £1.20 pence that is supported elsewhere in the 

economy through the supply chain and consumer spending 

2. The full report, Tourism: jobs and growth, can be found on VisitBritain’s website. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 85

http://www.visitbritain.org/Images/Final%20proof%2015%20Nov_tcm29-39296.pdf


 Ffon / Phone: 029 2089 8120 

Ffacs / fax: 029 2089 8021 

Ebost / Email: financecommittee@wales.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Pwyllgor Cyllid 
Finance Committee 
Bae Caerdydd / Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd / Cardiff CF99 1NA 
 

 

Ann Jones AC, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor CYPE 
Christine Chapman AC, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor 
CELG 
William Graham AC, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor E&B 
Alun Ffred Jones AC, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor E&S 
David Rees AC, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor HSC 

 
 

26 Mehefin 2014 

 
Annwyl Gadeiryddion Pwyllgorau, 
 
Yn ein cyfarfod ar 18 Mehefin, cytunodd y Pwyllgor Cyllid i ddatblygu ar ddull 
y llynedd  o graffu ar gyllideb ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru. Rwy’n ysgrifennu at 
holl gadeiryddion y pwyllgorau pwnc i rannu ein syniadau, ac i annog eich 
pwyllgor i ystyried sut y gall gyfrannu at gyflawni’r gwaith craffu mwyaf 
effeithiol o gynlluniau gwario’r Llywodraeth. 
 
Ffocws y gyllideb 
 
Byddwch yn cofio, wrth ymgymryd â’r gwaith o graffu ar y gyllideb ddrafft 
2014-15, cytunodd pob pwyllgor i fabwysiadu dull cydgysylltiedig, sy’n 
seiliedig ar y perfformiad a’r canlyniadau sydd i’w cyflawni gyda’r adnoddau 
sydd ar gael, a’r blaenoriaethau a nodwyd gan y cyhoedd yn gyffredinol (sy’n 
seiliedig ar adborth o’n gwaith o ymgysylltu).  
 
Roedd y dull hwn yn canolbwyntio ar y pedair egwyddor sy’n sail i waith 
craffu ariannol da: fforddiadwyedd, blaenoriaethu, gwerth am arian a phroses 
y gyllideb. Defnyddiwyd yr egwyddorion hyn fel sail ar gyfer pob briff, sesiwn 
dystiolaeth ac adroddiad y pwyllgorau. Mae’r nodyn isod yn ein hatgoffa beth 
yw’r egwyddorion:  
 
  

 Fforddiadwyedd - y darlun cyfan o gyfanswm y refeniw a‘r gwariant, ac a 

oes cydbwysedd priodol rhyngddynt;  

 Blaenoriaethu - a ellir cyfiawnhau‘r modd y rhennir dyraniadau rhwng 

gwahanol sectorau/rhaglenni ac a ydynt yn ystyrlon; a, 

 Gwerth am arian – yn ei hanfod, a yw cyrff cyhoeddus yn gwario eu 

dyraniadau yn dda - yn ddarbodus, effeithlon ac yn effeithiol (h.y.) 

canlyniadau; a  

Tudalen y pecyn 86



 Ffon / Phone: 029 2089 8120 

Ffacs / fax: 029 2089 8021 

Ebost / Email: financecommittee@wales.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 Phroses y gyllideb – a yw‘n effeithiol ac yn hygyrch ac a oes integreiddio 

rhwng gwaith cynllunio corfforaethol a gwasanaethau a rheolaeth ariannol 

a pherfformiad.   

 
Efallai y byddwch hefyd yn cofio, y llynedd fe wnaethom annog y Pwyllgor i 
ystyried gwariant ataliol. Eleni rydym yn eich annog i ganolbwyntio ar atal. 
Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cael blwyddyn i ystyried sut i ymateb i 
geisiadau gan bwyllgorau am wybodaeth yn ymwneud â gwariant ataliol. Gall 
gwaith craffu ar wariant ataliol hefyd gael ei gysylltu â’r canlyniadau y 
disgwylir eu cyflawni, a sut y caiff y rhain eu mesur/monitro.  
 
Efallai y bydd y Pwyllgor am nodi fod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi diweddaru ei 
Adroddiad Cynnydd ar y Rhaglen Lywodraethu yn ddiweddar. Er y bydd gan y 
pwyllgorau eu meysydd blaenoriaeth eu hunain i’w hystyried yn ystod y 
gwaith o graffu ar y gyllideb, efallai y bydd yn ddefnyddiol pe baech yn 
ystyried y meysydd a nodir isod. Mae’r Pwyllgor Cyllid yn awgrymu bod 
pwyllgorau polisi yn ystyried cynnwys ffocws eu gwaith craffu, ar ba mor 
effeithiol fu Llywodraeth Cymru o ran hwyluso’r gwaith o olrhain dyraniadau i 
raglenni, cynnyrch a mesur canlyniadau o ran darbodusrwydd, 
effeithlonrwydd ac effeithiolrwydd. 
 
Yn olaf, dylai’r gwaith o graffu ar y gyllideb sicrhau bod y Gymraeg, 
cydraddoldeb, cynaliadwyedd a hawliau plant yn cael eu prif-ffrydio i’r 
gwaith.  Mae Mesur Hawliau Plant a Phobl Ifanc (Cymru) 2011 yn gosod 
dyletswydd ar Weinidogion Cymru i roi sylw dyledus i Gonfensiwn y 
Cenhedloedd Unedig ar Hawliau’r Plentyn. Mae’r ddyletswydd hon wedi bod 
yn gymwys mewn cysylltiad â datblygu neu newid deddfwriaeth neu bolisi ers 
mis Mai 2012, ond fe’i hymestynnwyd ym mis Mai 2014 i gynnwys pob 
swyddogaeth weinidogaethol. 
 
Ymgynghori cyn y cyllideb 
 
Bydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid yn cynnal ymgynghoriad ar broses y gyllideb dros yr 
haf. Y llynedd, cawsom ymatebion gwybodus i’r ymgynghoriad a gynhaliwyd 
cyn y gyllideb, ac eto byddwn yn gofyn i randdeiliaid am eu barn cyn bod y 
Cynulliad yn dychwelyd yn yr hydref. 
 
Ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid 
 
Yn y gorffennol, gwelsom fod y gwaith a wnaed gan rai pwyllgorau polisi 
mewn perthynas ag ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid am bynciau penodol, yn 
ddefnyddiol iawn, ac rydym wedi defnyddio’r adborth o’r digwyddiadau hyn i 
lunio ein cwestiynau a’n hargymhellion o ran y gyllideb ddrafft. Hoffem 
annog yr holl bwyllgorau i ystyried beth yw’r ffordd orau o ymgysylltu â’u 
rhanddeiliaid fel rhan o’r broses. Mae’n bosibl y byddwch am nodi hefyd, yn 
dilyn y gwaith o graffu ar y gyllideb y llynedd, gwnaethpwyd yr argymhelliad 
a ganlyn:  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 87

http://wales.gov.uk/about/programmeforgov/?skip=1&lang=cy


 Ffon / Phone: 029 2089 8120 

Ffacs / fax: 029 2089 8021 

Ebost / Email: financecommittee@wales.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Dylai pwyllgorau’r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol barhau i ddefnyddio dulliau 
arloesol o gynnwys llais y cyhoedd yn y gwaith o graffu ar y gyllideb. 
Dylent ystyried beth yw’r ffordd orau o gynnwys llais y cyhoedd ar gyfer 
cylch y gyllideb y flwyddyn nesaf. Gall hyn gynnwys mwy o ddefnydd o’r 
cyfryngau cymdeithasol a/neu weithio fel rhan o’r ymdrech i 
ymgysylltu’n ehangach â phobl ifanc. 

 
 
 
 
Amserlen 
 
Ar hyn o bryd rydym yn aros am gyhoeddi dyddiad y gyllideb ddrafft, ond 
gwyddoch o bosibl fod y Gweinidog Llywodraeth Leol a Busnes y Llywodraeth 
wedi nodi y bydd yn barod i ganiatáu wythnos o amser ychwanegol ar gyfer 
craffu ar y gyllideb ddrafft.  Gobeithio y bydd yr wythnos ychwanegol hon yn 
rhoi amser i bwyllgorau pwnc gyflwyno adroddiad mewn da bryd i ni allu 
ystyried eich argymhellion pan fyddwn yn drafftio ein hadroddiad. Gan nad 
yw dyddiad y gyllideb ar gael eto, rwyf wedi gofyn i Glerc y Pwyllgor Cyllid roi 
gwybod i glercod y pwyllgorau pwnc perthnasol pan fydd y dyddiad ar gael, a 
byddai’n ddefnyddiol pe bai modd i chi gyflwyno eich adroddiad cyn y 
dyddiad y trefnwyd i’r Gweinidog ymddangos gerbron y Pwyllgor Cyllid (sydd 
i’w gadarnhau pan gyhoeddir dyddiad y gyllideb).   
 
Yn olaf, awgrymwyd y byddai rhai Cadeiryddion yn ei gweld yn ddefnyddiol 
pe cynhelid cyfarfod rhwng yr holl gadeiryddion pwyllgor, lle y gallem drafod 
y dull gweithredu o ran craffu ar y gyllideb a sut y mae modd i ni sicrhau bod 
gennym ddull cyson a chydlynol eleni.  Gallai’r cyfarfod hwn hefyd fod yn 
ddefnyddiol i sicrhau bod cydgysylltiad rhwng y pwyllgorau i sicrhau bod 
cytundeb o ran pa feysydd portffolio a gaiff eu cynnwys yn y gwaith o graffu, 
fel cyfrifoldebau’r Prif Weinidog mewn perthynas â’r Gymraeg a staffio’r 
gwasanaeth sifil. Os credwch y byddai hyn yn ddefnyddiol, rhowch wybod i 
Glerc y Pwyllgor Cyllid, a byddwn yn trefnu’r cyfarfod.  
 
Os oes gennych gwestiynau ar unrhyw agwedd ar broses y gyllideb ddrafft, 
mae croeso i chi gysylltu â mi neu â Bethan Davies, Clerc y Pwyllgor Cyllid, 
02920 89 8120, Bethan.Davies@Wales.gov.uk. 
 
  
Yn gywir, 
 

 
Jocelyn Davies AC 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor 

Tudalen y pecyn 88

mailto:Bethan.Davies@Wales.gov.uk


Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 89

Eitem 7Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Ymchwiliad i Dwristiaeth (Sesiwn 6)
	EBC(4)-18-14 (p.1) - Llywodraeth Cymru

	3 Ymchwiliad i Dwristiaeth (Sesiwn 7)
	Tourism Cultural_Tourism_Research_-_Executive_Summary_2009.pdf
	1. Background and Methodology
	1.1 The national tourism strategy “Achieving Our Potential 2006-2013” identified the need to prepare a cultural tourism action plan for Wales to realise the tourism potential of Wales’ cultural assets. 
	1.2 The Cultural Tourism Steering Group was set up in May 2008 following a review of cultural tourism, with the aims of providing strategic leadership and to drive initiatives. Their initial task has been to produce a costed action plan to take Cultural Tourism forward up to 2011.
	1.3 The steering group is chaired by Visit Wales and includes representatives from Cadw, Cymal and the Cultural Directorate from within the Department of Heritage, the National Museum, the Arts Council of Wales, the Welsh Language Board, Welsh Local Government Association and the Wales Tourism Alliance.
	1.4 The steering group has highlighted the need to follow up on research that was conducted in 2003 in order to assess how cultural tourism perceptions have changed. The 2003 research was useful for evaluating cultural tourism, the perception of Wales and its position in the cultural tourism market and the main barriers to visiting Wales.
	1.5 Visit Wales and the Arts Council of Wales on behalf of the Welsh Assembly Government’s Cultural Tourism Steering Group commissioned focus group research to examine perceptions of Wales as a cultural tourism destination and to gain an insight into the needs and behaviour of visitors interested in undertaking cultural visits and activities.
	1.6 The overall aim of the project was to review Wales’ position as a cultural tourism destination in the eyes of key markets. And to show trends in perceptions and cultural tourism habits since the benchmarking research in 2003.
	1.7 The specific objectives of the study were to:
	1.8 Visit Wales has approached cultural tourism from the viewpoint that all tourism has culture as an intrinsic part of the total visitor experience. For the purposes of this research project, cultural tourism was understood as being visits to a destination with the purpose (solely or partly) of experiencing any of the following aspects:
	1.9 Respondents were selected to be typical of the target market for cultural tourism in Wales, following a similar structure to the 2003 research.
	1.10 All were ‘Independent Explorers’, defined by their agreement with all of the following statements:
	1.11 Defined by their last UK break, 50% were cultural tourists and 50% general tourists. To be defined as a cultural tourist, respondents had to agree strongly that at least two of the following were very important in their choice of destination for their last UK break or holiday; a general tourist had to agree that at least one was very or quite important:
	1.12 All respondents were decision makers on holidays / short breaks, and had taken at least one overnight trip in the UK in the last year. In each English and Irish group half of those had been to Wales, and the remainder did not reject the idea of going to Wales. All stayed independently in paid-for accommodation (i.e. did not only stay with family / friends). We excluded people who only go on commercially organised packages (e.g. coach trips).
	1.13 We had a roughly equal numbers of men & women in each focus group, and excluded anyone employed in market research or tourism.
	1.14 There were 11 focus groups with 87 respondents present (8 respondents at all except for one group of 7). Fieldwork was conducted between 4th & 24th February 2009.
	1.15 The groups were split by location, and by life stage as shown in table below. In Wales one group was in Cardiff, the other in Colwyn Bay in order to pick up any differences in opinion between those living in the north and south. 

	2. Main Findings and Recommendations
	2.1 Visit Wales has approached cultural tourism from the viewpoint that all tourism has culture as an intrinsic part of the total visitor experience. This research and that undertaken in 2003 endorses this approach.  
	2.2 In the context of tourism consumers interpret culture as all aspects of a destination that create its special, even unique character. This includes the range of categories defined by Visit Wales and some people say includes almost everything. It was in many ways easier to define what was not cultural – somewhere without a sense of place such as a spa break or sun and sand. 
	2.3 However it is vital to understand that most people do not use the word culture to describe these categories or think of them as cultural. They call them “things to do”, “activities” or “attractions”.  The following quotes are typical:
	2.4 When the term ‘cultural tourism’ was introduced to groups this usually evoked thoughts of a focus on the performing arts, galleries and possibly museums. Only a small minority would see themselves as a ‘cultural tourist’. People often describe this as ‘high-culture’ and it alienates more people than it appeals to as illustrated by these quotes:
	2.5 Cities are the first places that come to mind when people are asked about places with a reputation for culture. This is because that’s where cultural buildings and collections of cultural things tend to be, where events are held, and where there is enough to do in one place to sustain a break. The following quote sums this up:
	2.6 Rome, Venice, Barcelona, Florence and Paris tend to be the most iconic European cities. In the UK, cities with a strong reputation for culture include London, Edinburgh, Bath, Chester Stratford and York. No Welsh city was mentioned and Wales was rarely mentioned as a cultural country.
	2.7 The three types of Cultural Tourist identified in 2003 were clear to see in 2009 and we believe remain largely unchanged in motivation, behaviour or proportion. These three types were defined as:
	2.8 The three groups are described briefly below, but it may be just as appropriate to think in terms of type of trip.
	2.9 For these people a specific cultural component is the main, but rarely the only reason for the choice of destination. The trip may be focused on an event – concert, exhibition, festival etc or on a theme/place – heritage, gardens, cultural figures etc. Other possible pure cultural trips could relate to TV and film settings, although whilst groups discussed these, no members had been on a trip like this.
	2.10 It is important to recognise that the majority of people in this category are at the popular end – they go to see a pop concert or show and have little interest in ‘high culture’, although there are those that are the opposite.
	2.11 These tourists are likely to be an adults-only couple or friends and they tend to be older. They are more likely to be taking a short break than a full holiday. Good quality food and accommodation tends to be an important element but not exclusively so. 
	2.12 These people tend to spend a relatively large amount of their break or holiday time seeing or doing cultural things.
	2.13 They often research thoroughly before they go but make few hard and fast plans. They feel strongly that a break is about relaxation and plans suggest the opposite. Many expect that almost any destination will have enough for them to do to fill their time.
	2.14 For these people culture gives the destination a context and can be a key reason people choose to visit. Both cultural and non cultural factors play a part and can be of equal importance. For many parties having a range of things available is important so that everyone is satisfied. 
	2.15 Shopping is important for many and argued by some as being particularly important and part of the culture if it has a local flavour. 
	2.16 The Casual Cultural Tourist is more likely to be without children or with older children. 
	2.17 The defining nature of this group is that they pay little attention to specific cultural aspects of a destination before deciding where to go. They may well visit places of interest or other attractions if they come across them or if the weather forces them indoors.
	2.18 Adults-only groups comprise a significant number of Accidental Cultural Tourists including groups of friends just going away to spend time together. Families with older children are also strongly represented in this group.
	2.19 The generic cultural backdrop still has an important role in deciding which destination 
	2.20 Lifestage exerted a strong effect on how people decide on the elements of their trip and the main motivation.
	2.21 Not surprisingly family groups behaved very differently to adult-only groups and the age of children is a key factor.
	2.22 Adult only groups were split between those who want more active breaks and the opportunity to experience new things and those that want less active relaxation. Culture has the greatest opportunity to influence those tourists looking for a more active break.
	2.23 Broad boundaries for a trip seem to be set fairly quickly by most people through considering who is going, what the trip is for, what they can afford and destinations where they might go.
	2.24 A range of other factors are then considered before a final choice is made. Amongst these are cultural factors such as setting, things to do, places to see and food and drink – the general cultural backdrop.
	2.25 For those on a pure cultural trip, the event, exhibition, festival etc. will be the driving force from the outset.
	2.26 This second stage can take some time and is an enjoyable part of the process for many people.
	2.27 When in a family group, parents want reassurance that a destination has things to do cultural and non cultural if they need them – typical of accidental cultural tourists. This is particularly true of those with younger children but perhaps less so of those with older children who can be more interested in cultural things. For mid to late ‘teens however cultural things are not seen as ‘cool’.
	2.28 Adults of all ages travelling as couples or in larger groups would seem to be the largest cultural tourist group. Cultural things to do and places to visit can be key to their choice of destination particularly for older, sometimes retired empty nesters. They can be especially interested in history and heritage of all kinds, crafts, houses, castles and gardens.
	2.29 Young people, pre-family travelling without a partner but often in groups tend not to be interested in culture, but merely in having a good time. 
	2.30 The internet is now the dominant channel for researching trips prior to departure. This is a major change compared to 2003. Word of mouth, TV and newspapers still have a role in the planning of a trip especially in terms of prompting ideas. People of all ages use the internet although those least likely to use it are the empty nesters. 
	2.31 Leaflets at destinations are very useful and have a key role for casual and accidental cultural tourists who comprise a large proportion of visitors to Wales.
	2.32 Many people also use the internet to book and pay for accommodation, travel and events. They are of all ages but the most prevalent use is amongst younger people. Apart from some people who have concerns over security and others who are not confident users of the internet, the main reason for not booking on line is where people have complicated requirements and / or want to ask questions.
	2.33 Everybody uses Google for general web searches, but some accommodation provider sites are known and popular. There is some use of ‘tourist board’ websites because they provide a good starting point. Independent review sites such as TripAdvisor are widely used and appreciated by many.
	2.34 Respondents in the groups had either visited Wales, or were open to the idea of going there. Despite this it was notable how little detail many knew about Wales. The 2003 report described Wales as a relatively “empty” country in people’s minds – this perception does not seem to have changed much. 
	2.35 What knowledge there is tends to be limited to places they have been to and has a regional bias. People from the north of England, the Midlands and Ireland tend to know the north best; southerners tend to know the south or mid Wales. The Welsh groups had a broader knowledge, though often with a significant bias to the north or south. 
	2.36 The Irish are notably warm in their attitudes to Wales as another Celtic country, though their knowledge of the country is no better than that of the English. Some particularly respected and admired what Wales has achieved for its language.
	2.37 Wales is well known for its industrial heritage and history. Its castles and its mining heritage are icons. Other strong associations are rugby, choirs the daffodil and leeks.
	2.38 Wales is positioned in the mind of tourists as a place for both active and relaxing breaks and holidays in the peace of the countryside or maybe by a beach. It is definitely not seen as a place for city breaks. Most did not know, so could not imagine why they would want to spend time in Cardiff or Swansea. 
	2.39 The Millennium Stadium has certainly raised Cardiff’s profile and many of those that had been to Cardiff for a break had been because of a sporting event or concert. Opinions were divided even amongst these people over its attractiveness for city breaks. 
	2.40 Typical comments about Wales and some about Scotland are:
	2.41 When asked about Wales, many people say that Wales is rich in culture. They think broadly of its history and heritage, crafts, folklore, festivals and song. However people often do not know exactly what there is to do.
	2.42 There is no dominant cultural icon in Wales, awareness of places of interest and things to do is diffused amongst several categories:
	2.43 There is little awareness of Welsh museums.
	2.44 Cardiff is universally perceived as the only serious option for a city break. Swansea is the only other city that most people knew, but is thought of as too small.
	2.45 There is a problem for Cardiff however in that relatively little is known about it. Relative to large cities such as London, Manchester, Edinburgh, Liverpool etc people feel that there is no compelling reason to visit.
	2.46 Cardiff was best known for the Millennium Stadium, rugby and pop concerts. There was only limited knowledge outside of Cardiff residents of any specific arts venue, company or their programmes. Cardiff at best is:
	And at worst is:
	2.47 The Eisteddfod is the Welsh festival with the strongest profile, but few people knew much about it or had been. This is in contrast to the broad appeal of Edinburgh’s festival. The Eisteddfod is generally seen as something primarily for the Welsh.
	2.48 The general perception was that Wales is focused on crafts rather than arts – this fits with the view of Wales as a countryside destination. We heard nothing about visual arts in Wales.
	2.49 There are a wide variety of cultural figures that people recalled in relation to Wales. The most often mentioned and by all ages related to popular culture – Tom Jones, Catherine Zeta Jones and Katherine Jenkins. Others mentioned include Shirley Bassey, Max Boyce, Harry Secombe, Charlotte Church, Cerys Matthews and groups such as Stereophonics and Manic Street Preachers. 
	2.50 Amongst the younger audiences TV has generated references to Gavin and Stacey and Glynn from ‘Big Brother’.
	2.51 Richard Burton and Anthony Hopkins are well known for being Welsh and were widely mentioned. Much less well known was Dylan Thomas. Lloyd George was the only political figure mentioned. 
	2.52 The language is an intrinsic and strong element of the culture of Wales and provides a sense of place. Welsh on signs, menus etc is accepted. 
	2.53 The Irish in particular respect the language and say they like to hear it. Views are mixed with the English: some feel excluded by the language.
	2.54 The idea of Welsh music in pubs for instance is fine but Wales is not seen to have a tradition of this like the Irish or to a lesser extent the Scots. Welsh music as personified by choirs is perceived to be more formal and if the singing was in Welsh visitors could not join in. 
	2.55 The main barrier is a lack of knowledge of what Wales has to offer in terms of things to do under the broad Visit Wales definition of culture.
	2.56 Consumers have a much stronger and better defined image of Scotland or of the south west of England. Wales is not especially famous for any one thing.
	2.57 Wales is positioned in the mind of tourists as a place for both active and relaxing breaks and holidays in the peace of the countryside or maybe by a beach. This tends to be at odds with large parts of the cultural agenda.
	2.58 Wales is perceived to have a slower pace of life and is slightly old-fashioned. This is a negative in the context of city breaks and cities as destinations for performing arts, galleries and museums. Neither Cardiff nor Swansea are seen as being large enough to sustain a city break or to have the “buzz” that younger people gravitate to.
	2.59 In the minds of some the Welsh are not perceived to be friendly, especially in relation to some Welsh speaking areas.
	2.60 The wide definition of cultural tourism used by Visit Wales is in tune with the way that the public thinks and makes choices between destinations. However the public think in terms of a range of things to do and see, not in terms of cultural activities.
	2.61 The term cultural tourism does not seem to be helpful from a marketing perspective. Amongst the public, the term cultural tourism appeals to only a very small minority and is typically described as ‘high’ culture. The alternative, much broader, Visit Wales definition is too wide to help define market segments.
	2.62 The public tend to think of cultural destinations as cities rather than countries and Cardiff is not seen as a cultural destination. As a consequence, the concept of promoting Wales as a cultural destination is an inappropriate objective at present. 
	2.63 Awareness of specific things to do in Wales is a weakness and appears to be no better than it was in the 2003 research even amongst those that have visited Wales. The question needs to be asked whether there is a real weakness compared to competitor regions or whether this is a perception.
	2.64 Wales’ promotional activities should reflect the way that the public thinks and focus strongly on things to do and see. The public tends to look for things to do and see within a more concentrated area than Wales as a whole. This suggests that the promotional emphasis should be on smaller recognisable areas. City breaks for example could be considered a prime example of focusing on a small area.
	2.65 Within these areas promotion must encompass a range of things to do and see, so that the diverse interests of individuals and groups are catered for. This must include all types of shopping. Accommodation and food, catering for a variety of tastes and budgets are always an important element in the mix. Wales’ target customer is the independent traveller and by definition they are not looking for packaged holidays but suggested ‘things to do’ itineraries would be valuable.
	2.66 Cardiff is not perceived as a city break destination but is seen as the only viable contender in Wales. Sporting events and rock concerts have significantly raised awareness of the city since 2003, yet most people do not feel that there is any particular reason outside of an event to visit the city. 
	2.67 A key activity for Cardiff and other areas would therefore seem to be improving the awareness of things to do with existing visitors when they are in an area through various forms of ‘point of sale’ material or pre-visit information. Co-ordinated promotional activities between event organisers and other tourism operators should be a priority. 
	2.68 Cardiff needs to create and promote an identity that is attractive and different from its much larger and well established competitors. The ‘city region’ concept may have a broader appeal than just Cardiff.


	Tourism Cultural_Tourism_Research_-_Executive_Summary_2009.pdf
	1. Background and Methodology
	1.1 The national tourism strategy “Achieving Our Potential 2006-2013” identified the need to prepare a cultural tourism action plan for Wales to realise the tourism potential of Wales’ cultural assets. 
	1.2 The Cultural Tourism Steering Group was set up in May 2008 following a review of cultural tourism, with the aims of providing strategic leadership and to drive initiatives. Their initial task has been to produce a costed action plan to take Cultural Tourism forward up to 2011.
	1.3 The steering group is chaired by Visit Wales and includes representatives from Cadw, Cymal and the Cultural Directorate from within the Department of Heritage, the National Museum, the Arts Council of Wales, the Welsh Language Board, Welsh Local Government Association and the Wales Tourism Alliance.
	1.4 The steering group has highlighted the need to follow up on research that was conducted in 2003 in order to assess how cultural tourism perceptions have changed. The 2003 research was useful for evaluating cultural tourism, the perception of Wales and its position in the cultural tourism market and the main barriers to visiting Wales.
	1.5 Visit Wales and the Arts Council of Wales on behalf of the Welsh Assembly Government’s Cultural Tourism Steering Group commissioned focus group research to examine perceptions of Wales as a cultural tourism destination and to gain an insight into the needs and behaviour of visitors interested in undertaking cultural visits and activities.
	1.6 The overall aim of the project was to review Wales’ position as a cultural tourism destination in the eyes of key markets. And to show trends in perceptions and cultural tourism habits since the benchmarking research in 2003.
	1.7 The specific objectives of the study were to:
	1.8 Visit Wales has approached cultural tourism from the viewpoint that all tourism has culture as an intrinsic part of the total visitor experience. For the purposes of this research project, cultural tourism was understood as being visits to a destination with the purpose (solely or partly) of experiencing any of the following aspects:
	1.9 Respondents were selected to be typical of the target market for cultural tourism in Wales, following a similar structure to the 2003 research.
	1.10 All were ‘Independent Explorers’, defined by their agreement with all of the following statements:
	1.11 Defined by their last UK break, 50% were cultural tourists and 50% general tourists. To be defined as a cultural tourist, respondents had to agree strongly that at least two of the following were very important in their choice of destination for their last UK break or holiday; a general tourist had to agree that at least one was very or quite important:
	1.12 All respondents were decision makers on holidays / short breaks, and had taken at least one overnight trip in the UK in the last year. In each English and Irish group half of those had been to Wales, and the remainder did not reject the idea of going to Wales. All stayed independently in paid-for accommodation (i.e. did not only stay with family / friends). We excluded people who only go on commercially organised packages (e.g. coach trips).
	1.13 We had a roughly equal numbers of men & women in each focus group, and excluded anyone employed in market research or tourism.
	1.14 There were 11 focus groups with 87 respondents present (8 respondents at all except for one group of 7). Fieldwork was conducted between 4th & 24th February 2009.
	1.15 The groups were split by location, and by life stage as shown in table below. In Wales one group was in Cardiff, the other in Colwyn Bay in order to pick up any differences in opinion between those living in the north and south. 

	2. Main Findings and Recommendations
	2.1 Visit Wales has approached cultural tourism from the viewpoint that all tourism has culture as an intrinsic part of the total visitor experience. This research and that undertaken in 2003 endorses this approach.  
	2.2 In the context of tourism consumers interpret culture as all aspects of a destination that create its special, even unique character. This includes the range of categories defined by Visit Wales and some people say includes almost everything. It was in many ways easier to define what was not cultural – somewhere without a sense of place such as a spa break or sun and sand. 
	2.3 However it is vital to understand that most people do not use the word culture to describe these categories or think of them as cultural. They call them “things to do”, “activities” or “attractions”.  The following quotes are typical:
	2.4 When the term ‘cultural tourism’ was introduced to groups this usually evoked thoughts of a focus on the performing arts, galleries and possibly museums. Only a small minority would see themselves as a ‘cultural tourist’. People often describe this as ‘high-culture’ and it alienates more people than it appeals to as illustrated by these quotes:
	2.5 Cities are the first places that come to mind when people are asked about places with a reputation for culture. This is because that’s where cultural buildings and collections of cultural things tend to be, where events are held, and where there is enough to do in one place to sustain a break. The following quote sums this up:
	2.6 Rome, Venice, Barcelona, Florence and Paris tend to be the most iconic European cities. In the UK, cities with a strong reputation for culture include London, Edinburgh, Bath, Chester Stratford and York. No Welsh city was mentioned and Wales was rarely mentioned as a cultural country.
	2.7 The three types of Cultural Tourist identified in 2003 were clear to see in 2009 and we believe remain largely unchanged in motivation, behaviour or proportion. These three types were defined as:
	2.8 The three groups are described briefly below, but it may be just as appropriate to think in terms of type of trip.
	2.9 For these people a specific cultural component is the main, but rarely the only reason for the choice of destination. The trip may be focused on an event – concert, exhibition, festival etc or on a theme/place – heritage, gardens, cultural figures etc. Other possible pure cultural trips could relate to TV and film settings, although whilst groups discussed these, no members had been on a trip like this.
	2.10 It is important to recognise that the majority of people in this category are at the popular end – they go to see a pop concert or show and have little interest in ‘high culture’, although there are those that are the opposite.
	2.11 These tourists are likely to be an adults-only couple or friends and they tend to be older. They are more likely to be taking a short break than a full holiday. Good quality food and accommodation tends to be an important element but not exclusively so. 
	2.12 These people tend to spend a relatively large amount of their break or holiday time seeing or doing cultural things.
	2.13 They often research thoroughly before they go but make few hard and fast plans. They feel strongly that a break is about relaxation and plans suggest the opposite. Many expect that almost any destination will have enough for them to do to fill their time.
	2.14 For these people culture gives the destination a context and can be a key reason people choose to visit. Both cultural and non cultural factors play a part and can be of equal importance. For many parties having a range of things available is important so that everyone is satisfied. 
	2.15 Shopping is important for many and argued by some as being particularly important and part of the culture if it has a local flavour. 
	2.16 The Casual Cultural Tourist is more likely to be without children or with older children. 
	2.17 The defining nature of this group is that they pay little attention to specific cultural aspects of a destination before deciding where to go. They may well visit places of interest or other attractions if they come across them or if the weather forces them indoors.
	2.18 Adults-only groups comprise a significant number of Accidental Cultural Tourists including groups of friends just going away to spend time together. Families with older children are also strongly represented in this group.
	2.19 The generic cultural backdrop still has an important role in deciding which destination 
	2.20 Lifestage exerted a strong effect on how people decide on the elements of their trip and the main motivation.
	2.21 Not surprisingly family groups behaved very differently to adult-only groups and the age of children is a key factor.
	2.22 Adult only groups were split between those who want more active breaks and the opportunity to experience new things and those that want less active relaxation. Culture has the greatest opportunity to influence those tourists looking for a more active break.
	2.23 Broad boundaries for a trip seem to be set fairly quickly by most people through considering who is going, what the trip is for, what they can afford and destinations where they might go.
	2.24 A range of other factors are then considered before a final choice is made. Amongst these are cultural factors such as setting, things to do, places to see and food and drink – the general cultural backdrop.
	2.25 For those on a pure cultural trip, the event, exhibition, festival etc. will be the driving force from the outset.
	2.26 This second stage can take some time and is an enjoyable part of the process for many people.
	2.27 When in a family group, parents want reassurance that a destination has things to do cultural and non cultural if they need them – typical of accidental cultural tourists. This is particularly true of those with younger children but perhaps less so of those with older children who can be more interested in cultural things. For mid to late ‘teens however cultural things are not seen as ‘cool’.
	2.28 Adults of all ages travelling as couples or in larger groups would seem to be the largest cultural tourist group. Cultural things to do and places to visit can be key to their choice of destination particularly for older, sometimes retired empty nesters. They can be especially interested in history and heritage of all kinds, crafts, houses, castles and gardens.
	2.29 Young people, pre-family travelling without a partner but often in groups tend not to be interested in culture, but merely in having a good time. 
	2.30 The internet is now the dominant channel for researching trips prior to departure. This is a major change compared to 2003. Word of mouth, TV and newspapers still have a role in the planning of a trip especially in terms of prompting ideas. People of all ages use the internet although those least likely to use it are the empty nesters. 
	2.31 Leaflets at destinations are very useful and have a key role for casual and accidental cultural tourists who comprise a large proportion of visitors to Wales.
	2.32 Many people also use the internet to book and pay for accommodation, travel and events. They are of all ages but the most prevalent use is amongst younger people. Apart from some people who have concerns over security and others who are not confident users of the internet, the main reason for not booking on line is where people have complicated requirements and / or want to ask questions.
	2.33 Everybody uses Google for general web searches, but some accommodation provider sites are known and popular. There is some use of ‘tourist board’ websites because they provide a good starting point. Independent review sites such as TripAdvisor are widely used and appreciated by many.
	2.34 Respondents in the groups had either visited Wales, or were open to the idea of going there. Despite this it was notable how little detail many knew about Wales. The 2003 report described Wales as a relatively “empty” country in people’s minds – this perception does not seem to have changed much. 
	2.35 What knowledge there is tends to be limited to places they have been to and has a regional bias. People from the north of England, the Midlands and Ireland tend to know the north best; southerners tend to know the south or mid Wales. The Welsh groups had a broader knowledge, though often with a significant bias to the north or south. 
	2.36 The Irish are notably warm in their attitudes to Wales as another Celtic country, though their knowledge of the country is no better than that of the English. Some particularly respected and admired what Wales has achieved for its language.
	2.37 Wales is well known for its industrial heritage and history. Its castles and its mining heritage are icons. Other strong associations are rugby, choirs the daffodil and leeks.
	2.38 Wales is positioned in the mind of tourists as a place for both active and relaxing breaks and holidays in the peace of the countryside or maybe by a beach. It is definitely not seen as a place for city breaks. Most did not know, so could not imagine why they would want to spend time in Cardiff or Swansea. 
	2.39 The Millennium Stadium has certainly raised Cardiff’s profile and many of those that had been to Cardiff for a break had been because of a sporting event or concert. Opinions were divided even amongst these people over its attractiveness for city breaks. 
	2.40 Typical comments about Wales and some about Scotland are:
	2.41 When asked about Wales, many people say that Wales is rich in culture. They think broadly of its history and heritage, crafts, folklore, festivals and song. However people often do not know exactly what there is to do.
	2.42 There is no dominant cultural icon in Wales, awareness of places of interest and things to do is diffused amongst several categories:
	2.43 There is little awareness of Welsh museums.
	2.44 Cardiff is universally perceived as the only serious option for a city break. Swansea is the only other city that most people knew, but is thought of as too small.
	2.45 There is a problem for Cardiff however in that relatively little is known about it. Relative to large cities such as London, Manchester, Edinburgh, Liverpool etc people feel that there is no compelling reason to visit.
	2.46 Cardiff was best known for the Millennium Stadium, rugby and pop concerts. There was only limited knowledge outside of Cardiff residents of any specific arts venue, company or their programmes. Cardiff at best is:
	And at worst is:
	2.47 The Eisteddfod is the Welsh festival with the strongest profile, but few people knew much about it or had been. This is in contrast to the broad appeal of Edinburgh’s festival. The Eisteddfod is generally seen as something primarily for the Welsh.
	2.48 The general perception was that Wales is focused on crafts rather than arts – this fits with the view of Wales as a countryside destination. We heard nothing about visual arts in Wales.
	2.49 There are a wide variety of cultural figures that people recalled in relation to Wales. The most often mentioned and by all ages related to popular culture – Tom Jones, Catherine Zeta Jones and Katherine Jenkins. Others mentioned include Shirley Bassey, Max Boyce, Harry Secombe, Charlotte Church, Cerys Matthews and groups such as Stereophonics and Manic Street Preachers. 
	2.50 Amongst the younger audiences TV has generated references to Gavin and Stacey and Glynn from ‘Big Brother’.
	2.51 Richard Burton and Anthony Hopkins are well known for being Welsh and were widely mentioned. Much less well known was Dylan Thomas. Lloyd George was the only political figure mentioned. 
	2.52 The language is an intrinsic and strong element of the culture of Wales and provides a sense of place. Welsh on signs, menus etc is accepted. 
	2.53 The Irish in particular respect the language and say they like to hear it. Views are mixed with the English: some feel excluded by the language.
	2.54 The idea of Welsh music in pubs for instance is fine but Wales is not seen to have a tradition of this like the Irish or to a lesser extent the Scots. Welsh music as personified by choirs is perceived to be more formal and if the singing was in Welsh visitors could not join in. 
	2.55 The main barrier is a lack of knowledge of what Wales has to offer in terms of things to do under the broad Visit Wales definition of culture.
	2.56 Consumers have a much stronger and better defined image of Scotland or of the south west of England. Wales is not especially famous for any one thing.
	2.57 Wales is positioned in the mind of tourists as a place for both active and relaxing breaks and holidays in the peace of the countryside or maybe by a beach. This tends to be at odds with large parts of the cultural agenda.
	2.58 Wales is perceived to have a slower pace of life and is slightly old-fashioned. This is a negative in the context of city breaks and cities as destinations for performing arts, galleries and museums. Neither Cardiff nor Swansea are seen as being large enough to sustain a city break or to have the “buzz” that younger people gravitate to.
	2.59 In the minds of some the Welsh are not perceived to be friendly, especially in relation to some Welsh speaking areas.
	2.60 The wide definition of cultural tourism used by Visit Wales is in tune with the way that the public thinks and makes choices between destinations. However the public think in terms of a range of things to do and see, not in terms of cultural activities.
	2.61 The term cultural tourism does not seem to be helpful from a marketing perspective. Amongst the public, the term cultural tourism appeals to only a very small minority and is typically described as ‘high’ culture. The alternative, much broader, Visit Wales definition is too wide to help define market segments.
	2.62 The public tend to think of cultural destinations as cities rather than countries and Cardiff is not seen as a cultural destination. As a consequence, the concept of promoting Wales as a cultural destination is an inappropriate objective at present. 
	2.63 Awareness of specific things to do in Wales is a weakness and appears to be no better than it was in the 2003 research even amongst those that have visited Wales. The question needs to be asked whether there is a real weakness compared to competitor regions or whether this is a perception.
	2.64 Wales’ promotional activities should reflect the way that the public thinks and focus strongly on things to do and see. The public tends to look for things to do and see within a more concentrated area than Wales as a whole. This suggests that the promotional emphasis should be on smaller recognisable areas. City breaks for example could be considered a prime example of focusing on a small area.
	2.65 Within these areas promotion must encompass a range of things to do and see, so that the diverse interests of individuals and groups are catered for. This must include all types of shopping. Accommodation and food, catering for a variety of tastes and budgets are always an important element in the mix. Wales’ target customer is the independent traveller and by definition they are not looking for packaged holidays but suggested ‘things to do’ itineraries would be valuable.
	2.66 Cardiff is not perceived as a city break destination but is seen as the only viable contender in Wales. Sporting events and rock concerts have significantly raised awareness of the city since 2003, yet most people do not feel that there is any particular reason outside of an event to visit the city. 
	2.67 A key activity for Cardiff and other areas would therefore seem to be improving the awareness of things to do with existing visitors when they are in an area through various forms of ‘point of sale’ material or pre-visit information. Co-ordinated promotional activities between event organisers and other tourism operators should be a priority. 
	2.68 Cardiff needs to create and promote an identity that is attractive and different from its much larger and well established competitors. The ‘city region’ concept may have a broader appeal than just Cardiff.



	4 Ymchwiliad i Dwristiaeth (Sesiwn 8)
	5 Papurau i'w nodi
	EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 5) - Ymateb gan Weinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth
	EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 6) - Tystiolaeth Ychwanegol (1) gan VisitBritain
	EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 7) - Tystiolaeth Ychwanegol (2) gan VisitBritain
	EBC(4)-18-14 (p. 8) - Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Cyllid at Gadeiryddion (Cymraeg)

	7 Ystyried Adroddiad Drafft

